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PROCEEDI NGS

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: -- the
transcription. This is being digitally recorded, and
she's -- will produce a transcript using the
met hodol ogy she's follow ng this norning.

| just want to note that | think we
will, on our own determ nation, pay for expedited
transcripts. | don't knowif that's sonmething you're
all going to feel is necessary, but there's so many
| ssues here, and there may be additional proceedings.
Who knows? But | think we're going to ask for
expedited transcripts.

Of course, then, they would be
avai lable to all of you, so | suspect you're not
unhappy about that. | suspect, if anything, that's --
you're appreciative of that.

So, as | understand, we have five nore
W t nesses cover today. |I'mnot going to attenpt to
use ny crystal ball and figure out if we're going to
be done before noon or not. | have no idea. But
we'll go forward as expeditiously as possible.

We'll take one break, probably close to
10: 30, if we can, and then, we'll decide if we're
really close. W may cause you sone disconfort. W

may run it until we're done. If it's -- we may get

Page 8

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo 0o b~ wWw N -

N N D N NN P P P P P P PP R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO O M W N P+ O

Hearing Cont'd

done by one, but, if anybody is going to have a huge
problemw th that, see us at the break.

Okay. Well, welcone. Well, | thought
It was a very hel pful hearing yesterday. Sonme of you
stayed for the public w tness hearing.

"1l just note, years and years ago,
ran anot her state Agency when | was just a kid and was
chair of the Alcoholic Beverage Control Conm ssion at
the tine.

| | earned, as a young person, whether
you agree with sonmebody or not, it's really inportant
to treat those who come, and take their tine and
effort to cone and appear before you, with respect,
and give them an opportunity to say their -- you know,
make their remarks and say their piece, so to speak.

So | thought it went pretty well | ast
night, and we tried to, without weighing in either pro
or con, just |et people nake their coments. So |
t hi nk that went well.

And sone people are not used to getting
a -- kind of an unlimted period of tinme, but | think
no one abused it. | asked themto be concise, and |
t hought they all were pretty reasonable in the anmount
of tinme they took.

So, anyway, | think it was helpful to
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get that input. And it's inportant, | think, to get
the viewpoint of the people who feel strongly about

t hi ngs.

| also wll say, years and years ago,
remenber Richard Ni xon tal king about -- he's not the,
| guess, best guy to use as the -- as a -- necessarily
as an exanple -- but he tal ked about the silent
maj ority.

And, you know, there's -- there are,
sonetimes -- because sone people that conme have

passion, you tend to forget that there are a | ot of
peopl e who just don't weigh in because they don't have
the passion and intensity on issues.

And so we heard from peopl e,
particularly of those who are very concerned about
renewabl e energies. And there are people out there
who don't have that sanme passion about renewables, and
we just didn't hear fromthem And this -- that's
what you woul d expect.

Okay. Well, with enough of that, we
are going to continue today.

| think we're ready for your w tness,
Ms. Hayes.

M5. HAYES: Thank you. Good norni ng.

West ern Resource Advocates calls Karl
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Boot hman.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Great. Thank
you.
M. Boothman, it's nice to have you
with us again.
MR. BOOTHMAN: Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: | f you'll
rai se your right armto the swear.
VWHEREUPOQN,
KARL BOOTHMAN,
call ed as a witness and having been first duly sworn
to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but
the truth, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Thank you.
You may be seat ed.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MS. HAYES:
Q Good norning, M. Boothman. WIIl you --
A Good norni ng, Sophi e.
Q Thank you. Wuld you state and spell your
name for the record?
A My name is Karl G Boothman, that's K-A-R-L,
mddle initial G last name, B-O-O T-H M A-N.
Q By whom are you enpl oyed, and what is your

position?
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A ' m enpl oyed by Western Resource Advocates
as a senior policy advisor, where | provide policy
anal ysis and regul atory support to WRA in electricity
I ndustry related matters.

Q Have you previously testified before this
Conmi ssi on?

A Yes.

Q Gven that | think it is your third tine
testifying for this Conm ssion, as opposed to your
fifty-first, can you provide just a little bit of
background information, or a little bit of information
about your background, that's relevant to this
proceedi ng and your testinony?

A Sure. So |'ve been doing energy policy
related work for, | think, over ten years now.

Rel ative to this proceeding, ny testinony
di scusses certain nodeling kind of techniques.

And, | think, relevant to ny testinony,
while | don't describe nyself as a nodeler in ny
current job, in a past job, | used various open source
NREL based nodels, PVWatts system advi sor nodel .

| was -- | assisted in the devel opnent of
the M chigan state version of the energy policy
simul ator, created by Energy | nnovati on.

And |'ve also created a -- an open-source
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capacity expansion nodel, called Step 8760, for
various states in a past role.

Q Thank you. Did you file direct testinony

and Exhi bits KB1 through KB3 in this docket on October

10t h?

A Yes.

Q And did you file surrebuttal testinony,
along with Exhibits KB4 and 5, on Decenber 11th?

A Yes, | did.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to
that testinony?

A No.

Q If | asked you the sane questions today,
woul d your answers be the sane?

A Yes. They woul d.

MS. HAYES: Thank you. WRA noves the
adm ssion of the pre-filed testinony and exhibits of
Kar| Boot hman.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you, Ms. Hayes.

Wt hout objection, we'll admt the
pre-filed direct and surrebuttal testinony of
M . Boot hman and the exhibits associated therewth.
/1
/1
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(WRA pre-filed direct and surrebuttal
testi nony and associ ated exhibits of
Karl Boothman were admitted into
evi dence.)
M5. HAYES: Thank you.
BY MS. HAYES:
Q M . Boot hman, do you have a summary of your
testinony for the Comm ssion?
A Yes, | do.
Q Pl ease go ahead with that.

A Okay. | wrote, "Good norning," on ny
testinony, thinking that maybe | woul d go yesterday
nmor ni ng, but, well, that was -- that was --

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Unrealistic.
MR. BOOTHMAN: -- a pipe dream

So good norning, Chair Fenn, and
Comm ssi oners Clark and Harvey.

WRA's interest in this proceeding is to
support a resource valuation nethod that enables an
accurate quantification and equal consideration of
bot h program resource costs and benefits and to
support a wor kabl e program

| recomend the use of the present
val ue revenue requirenent differential nethod, or

PVRRD, which is the exact nmethod used by the conpany

Page 14

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo 0o b~ wWw N -

N N D N NN P P P P P P PP R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO O M W N P+ O

Hearing Cont'd

to justify its long-termresource procurenents on
behal f of all custoners.

One of ny concerns with a nodified
Schedul e 38 avoi ded cost nethod was the recent
volatility in avoided costs, with rates dropping by up
to 75 percent for sone generator types in the nost
recent filing.

This volatility was a direct result of
mat erial and structural changes to the conpany's nost
recent integrated resource plan, or IRP

Careful consideration should also be
given in resource valuation to the treatnent of
federal production tax credits, or PTCs, and |
endorsed Agency w tness, Higgins, recomendati ons on
this topic.

| al so recommended that endogenous
portfolio selection be conducted at a system optim zed
| evel rather than a bifurcated east-west |evel, as
filed in the recent IRP This recommendati on hol ds,
regardl ess of which nmethod is ultimtely endorsed by
t he Comm ssi on.

As any val uation nethod presented in
this docket relies on the conpany's IRP, | also
recommended that the Conm ssion reject the conpany's

proposal to charge participating custoners for the
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| ost val ue of RECs, because the conpany has nmade no
i ndication as to how this hypothetical and uncertain
val ue woul d be quantifi ed.

Mor eover, charging custoners for a | ost
val ue of RECs is inconsistent with how t he conpany
treats REC-generating resources inits IRP. A REC
val ue woul d reduce renewabl e proxy resource costs, and
such resources would, in turn, conpete nore favorably
with the non- REC generating resources available in the
company's I RP

This could materially change the size
and timng of proxy renewables in the preferred
portfolio. However, no value is given, thus, no val ue
shoul d be char ged.

Thi s concl udes ny sunmary.

M5. HAYES: Thank you.

M. Boothman is available for
guesti oni ng.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you for that summary, M. Boothman. Appreciate that
very nmuch.

Let's turn to Rocky Mountain Power.

M5. WALKER: No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Okay.
Thank you very nuch, M. Wl ker.
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M. Russell ?

MR, RUSSELL:

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:

Ms. Monahan?
MS. MONAHAN:

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:

M. Gecu?
MR. GRECU:

No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:

it's down to you

MR. MOORE

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN

No questi ons.
Ckay.

Thank you.

No questi ons.
Ckay.

Let's conti nue the trend.

M. NMbore,

No questions. Thank you.

Ckay. I'm

starting to get nore optim stic about this day as the

ti me goes by.

Comm ssi oner

COW SSI ONER CLARK: |

guestions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN

Comm ssi oner Harvey?

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: |

feel like he actually cane

Cl ark?
have no
I f only,
want himto
here for a reason.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:
Q I

woul d i ke to explore this problem what
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you've terned a problem of volatility under a
nodi fi ed Schedul e 38.

| guess, at a core level, why is volatility,

I n your opinion, a problenf

A I think, when the nost recent avoi ded costs
updates canme out, it's -- in -- in ny experience, and
|'ve been involved in PURPA avoi ded costs in other
jurisdictions as well, but it's fairly rare to see
avoi ded costs drop by that |evel.

Avoi ded costs fundanentally are supposed to
represent, obviously, the avoi ded generation and
capacity costs that the utility would otherw se incur
to produce that power.

There are a nunber of reasons, there are a
number of kind of things |I could get into with -- with
the IRP, but | think that there's other contexts that
I's i nportant here.

So this utility, and all utilities, are in a
period of kind of unprecedented |oad growth; right?
So one of the nost basic determ nations of avoi ded
costs is a utilities need.

Now, | -- | said this in ny testinony, but
there are assunptions that are unvetted in the
conpany's IRP, and -- and | know that the Comm ssion

has yet to rule on them but one of the assunptions
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was renmoving all |large data center | oad.

In the draft I RP, they included sone |arge
| oads. In the final IRP, they renoved all |arge
| oads, under the assunption that all of those data
centers would bring their own resources, thus, they
shoul dn't be considered at all, and they're considered
outside of the traditional planning process.

In ny |RP comments, and | reiterated this in
direct testinony, | -- | just felt |like that decision
was not based in certain legislation or statute, where
they treated all of those |oads with an extrenely
br oad brush.

And so, whether a data center that is 25
megawatts, which is now considered small, or whether
it was a gigawatt, were renmoved fromthat planning
process.

The Utah statute, or SB 132, | believe, only
concerns itself with | oads greater than a hundred
megawatts. Likew se, there is a statute in Oregon, |
woul d have to check the number, but | think that that
one deals with 50 negawatts.

So |l think it's, you know, part of this,
relating to the resource need, is the underlying
assunmption that the conpany will not have to serve any

data center | oad what soever.
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And now, again, reiterating, like | said,
that -- that the load forecast is one of the biggest
determ nants of avoi ded costs and whether there are
proxy resources in the preferred portfolio, and that
goes into the valuation of avoi ded costs.

So | think that that volatility was a signal
that there are -- there were significant structural
changes, relative to past planning practices, in the
conpany's | RP that should be explored a little bit
nore in depth.

The reason why | recomended t he PVRRD
met hod i s because, in ny view, that nethod is -- is
| ess dependent on the timng of proxy resources and
nore informed by overall existing system resources;
right?

So it takes the entire systemas it is today
and as it is projected, but it redi spatches the entire
system consi dering the current resources.

And so, in ny view, you would be less |ikely
to see those significant fluctuations using the PVRRD
met hod, relative to a quarterly avoided cost filing
update that is dependent on a unacknow edged | RP, for
exanpl e.

Q Is the -- is your issue primarily with the

volatility or your perception of the inaccuracy of the
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result?

A | would say that | actually -- it's -- it's
my opinion that the Schedul e 38 avoi ded cost nethod,
absent the volatility, is -- is also an inferior
met hod for a couple of reasons.

Avoi ded costs, the nature of avoided costs,
rest in the PURPA custoner indifference standard,
which I'msure you're all famliar with. But ny
readi ng of that application to this case doesn't
necessarily allow for an accurate quantification of
benefits.

It really says, you know, custoners nust be
indifferent. There's no opportunity for custoners to
benefit, should a resource be brought on that |owers
system costs.

This was di scussed yesterday by a few
conpany w tnesses, the -- the kind of idea of what if
a resource, a programresource, lowers costs for the
entire systen? How do we do that?

And | think that the PVRRD nethod is a
better holistic measure of both costs and benefits.
So the outputs fromthe PVRRD nethod will, annually,
but, ultimately, you can levelize kind of the cost
stream but, by resource type, the conpany can out put

basically the change in resource costs on a fixed, a
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variable, an O&M basis for every resource type.

So you can see the annual inpact of a
resource being added to the system under this nethod.

I n an avoi ded cost context, this is actually a nethod
t hat has been used and has been witten about in
econom c literature going back, at least in ny

know edge, to since the seventies or eighties, kind of
when portfolio optim zation or capacity expansion
nodel s were -- were conm ng online.

But -- but, in an avoided cost context, when
this nodel is used, sonetines utilities can say, oh,
the net system benefit is the | unp-sum paynent that
woul d be owed to the QF, and then, kind of the rates
are designed around that.

They can also take kind of a nore sim|lar

approach to an avoi ded cost nmethod, where they -- they
| ook at the -- the fixed costs avoi ded, that woul d be
by resource deferral or -- or delay, as well as the

variable costs in the kind of system the production
cost nodeling aspect, of this approach, and they coul d
attribute certain costs to capacity and certain costs
to energy under the PVRRD net hod.

So the other reasons why | think the PVRRD

met hod is superior in this context is that, like I
said, it's -- it's a holistic neasure of costs and
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benefits, which | think is supported by the statute
that we're -- that's of interest in this proceeding.

And the other reason is that it mrrors the
conpany's process for justifying their resource
procurenents as it i s now.

So, in rate cases, you know, this output
is -- is done for each resource that the conpany is
trying to justify. And it has been done, even as
recently as the last rate case, for resources that are
around 50 negawatts; right?

There were a couple w nd repoweri ng
projects, and one was Foot Creek, one was Rock Creek,
one was Rock River. They're all -- 1 can't renmenber
which is which. Lots of Rocks, |ots of Creeks.

But so -- so, in ny mnd, there's also no
size limtation on the efficacy of this nethod.

And | -- | would also say kind of the
avoi ded cost, going back to Schedule 37 or 38 avoi ded
costs, kind of inherent is -- in that nodel is that
custonmers can't really benefit beyond the avoi ded
costs; right?

So it's dependent on system costs avoi ded,
and, if a QF accepts those terns, accepts the
| evel i zed contract, if they're able to generate energy

bel ow t hat avoi ded cost, the benefits accrue to the
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QF.

In this proceeding, | think that, because of
the explicit acknow edgenent of quantification of
costs and benefits equally, it makes sense to think
about the eventualities, what could happen if a
resource we're not going to be built by the conpany,

i nstead was brought on by the programas a voluntary
resource, and there were benefits across the system
t hat should accrue to the programfor their role in
bringing the -- the project online.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Ckay. Thank you.
That's a very hel pful summary. All right. That's al
t he questions | have.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:

Q M. Boothman, | just -- I'mtrying to
understand a little bit nore clearly about your
arguments with respect to RECs, as it relates to the
2025 | RP.

And | think you testified that, with respect
to RECs, REC-nonetization benefits, that the 2025 IRP
doesn't assign a specific dollar value, and so, that
forms a basis for your determ nation on how t hey ought
to be treated.

Woul d you just explain that a little bit
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nore to nme?

A Sure. | think that's an accurate
characterization. | think, you know, in an IRP
context, costs are |levelized, such that different
resource types can be conpared agai nst one anot her.

So you have a -- you have an assuned build
cost, you have an assumed operating cost, and there's
no -- there's no value given to this hypotheti cal
val ue of RECs associated with renewabl e resources.

If there were, if the conpany were able to
forecast that confidently, which | believe we've heard
testinony to the effect of it's highly uncertain as to
how you woul d forecast the value of RECs because it is
so dependent on policy and trends in the marketpl ace
of buyers for RECs or renewable portfolio standards,
but, if you could, in the hypothetical in which you
could forecast that value confidently, renewable
resources would conpare even nore favorably than they
do now agai nst ot her generator types.

Soina-- in aleast cost optimzation
nodel or a linear optimzation nodel, it's -- it's
neeting the system need, subject to constraints, and
it's finding the cheapest way to go about that.

When you -- when you think about RECs as a

possi bl e adj ust nent downward to the costs of renewabl e
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resources, they would be picked nore often by the --
by the nodel or in greater quantities to serve such

| oad if they are close to conpeting with other, you
know, di spatchable resources or other -- other Kkinds
of resources.

SO -- so it's ny opinion that -- that, in --
in looking at the programresource and effectively
charging program participants for this value, at sone
point in the future, when the resource displaces a

resource that the conpany says that they would

build -- | think that's a tenuous assunption, | share
t he same hunch as -- as M. Higgins, as he put it
yesterday -- you just -- you don't have a good way to

confidently neasure that value, and | think that the
treatment should be symetrical between the | RP and
bet ween the programrate.

So |l think I"lIl -- I"Il leave it there.

Q No. | think that's hel pful. So your

concern was about the asymmetric valuation of RECs.

And, as | understand it, you were -- naybe
this is sinplifying it too nuch, but, essentially,
t hat, because hypothetical REC revenues are too
uncertain fromthe 2025 IRP in resource planning,
they're too uncertain to be quantified here in this

program is that correct?
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A Yes. That's -- that's kind of the bul k of
nmy argunent.

But | would also add that the -- | think
that it's easy to gloss over the fact that avoi ded
costs are also based on the IRP

So all of the uncertainty that we see in an
| RP you know, public input process, the devel opnent of
the IRP, that all exists, to ne, in the Schedule 37
avoi ded cost net hod.

The only difference is that there's a
certain tolerance for that uncertainty because the
avoi ded cost nethod takes, as given an unchangeabl e,

t he outputs of the IRP

So I"'mnot trying to open a can of wornms on
Comm ssi on- approved avoi ded cost nethodol ogies in this
case, but I will note that the underlying nodel is a
nodel that does not account for the value of RECs, on
whi ch we base avoi ded costs.

Q If the 2025 | RP update, to be filed in March
of 2026, if that changed as far as to have val uation
of RECs, would that -- first of all, do you think

that's likely, and, if so, would it change your

anal ysi s?
A In my opinion, | don't think it's likely
that the conpany will begin to forecast a val ue of
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RECsand assign themto REC-generating resources in the
| RP.

They're -- based on ny nmenory, | think maybe
t hey had done that in the distant past, but, over all
of the IRP cycles that |I've been engaged in in Utah
wi th Rocky Mountain Power, there's never been a
valuation of RECs, as far as -- as | renenber.

| do think it would change it, though, in
the hypothetical, that they are able to do that
because, again, it would lower the costs, the relative
costs, based on other resources in the resource supply
side, resource table, as they call it, such that it
woul d becone a nore econom c option by which to neet
system | oad.

| would also nention, though, that -- that,
in the | RP context, you know, we're talking about
timng, in the avoi ded cost context, we're talking
about timng of proxy resources. That is a big part
of whether a program resource would get a capacity
payment .

And | -- | just want to reiterate what M.
Hi ggi ns said yesterday, is that if the -- if we're
tal ki ng now about the 2025 | RP update, any nethod,
beli eve, that the Comm ssion decides on for program

rate valuation has to take into account the realistic
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assunpti ons about production tax credits and about
whet her the conpany would bring this resource on on
their own; right? W're --
Q In the absence of production tax credits?
A Sure. But even going beyond that, whether
the utility is in a financial position to bring on
t hese resources.
Q Regardl ess of the production tax credits?
A Regar dl ess of the production tax credits.

And | think that M. Eller yesterday
testified sonmething to the effect of, you know, if
we -- if we see these bids from program resources, and
t he nodeling shows that they provide a net system
benefit, well, we could just call up the devel oper on
our own and -- and offer them a contract.

| -- I don't know that that's going to
happen. | think, also, M. MacNeil testified to the
effect that they aren't picking up the phones in Utah.
They are in Oregon and Washi ngt on.

So, on behalf of Utah custoners, | think
that it's a very tenuous assunption that the conpany
woul d bring that resource on, even if it were
econom cal .

And that gets back to kind of the -- the

treat nent of benefits and whet her benefits shoul d
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accrue beyond -- if -- if there are net benefits after
the build costs of the resource, after the PPA price,
if there are still net benefits to the system

| think that the statute explicitly allows,
and |'mnot a lawer, but | think it allows the
accrual of such benefits to program participants
because they are taking the risk to bring on a
resource on their own.

They' re essentially functioning, as the
conpany would with its own capital, but raising
this -- this, you know, base revenue requirenent for
t he program resource.

| think it's conpletely within the bounds of
the statute, in ny opinion, to have benefits accrue to
program partici pants and have non-participating
custoners be no worse off.

And | think that one idea | nentioned
yesterday was the concept of a bill credit, which I
think is -- is a good idea to explore, if the nodeling
were to show net benefits after considering all of the
addi ti onal costs.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank

you very much for that explanation. | appreciate it.
That hel ps ne.

| have nothing further, and we
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appreciate very nmuch you being here today, and we'l]l
excuse you, M. Boothman. Thank you.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

M5. HAYES: If it's all right with the
Comm ssion, | amgoing to nove to allow Ms. Monahan to
conme sit here, so she can face you while she questions
her witness.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: That woul d be
great. Allow that.

Thank you, Ms. Monahan. We will turn
the time over to you to call your wtness.

M5. MONAHAN: Thank you very nuch.
Sierra Club will call Mark Fulnmer to the stand.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Wl cone, M.

Ful mer.
MR. FULMER: Good norni ng.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Good nor ni ng.
If you'll raise your right armto the
swear .
VHEREUPON,
MARK FULMER,

call ed as a witness and having been first duly sworn
to tell the truth, the whole truth, and not hi ng but
the truth, was exam ned and testified as follows:

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Thank you very
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much. You may be seat ed.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. MONAHAN:

Q Good norning, M. Fulnmer. Could you please
state and spell your nane for the record?

A My name is Mark Fulmer. That is spelled
M A-R-K F-U-L-ME-R

Q By whom are you enpl oyed, and what is your
position?

A | am enpl oyed at MRW & Associates. | am a
princi pal there.

Q And on whose behalf are you testifying
t oday?

A Sierra Cl ub.

Q Have you provided testinony to this
Conmmi ssi on before?

A No. | have not.

Q Coul d you pl ease provide a brief description
of your education and rel evant work experience?

A Yes. |'ve been consulting in energy policy
I n economcs for, | guess, about 34 years now.
Started in 1991

Before that, | had received a degree in

engi neering fromthe University of California in

I rvine, and another degree, a nmaster's in engineering
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and public policy, fromPrinceton University.

During nmy consulting time, ny rel evant
experience here is addressing the valuation of solar
projects, often rooftop solar, but, also, community
solar projects in five Western states. Utah will be
number si Xx.

|'"ve al so worked closely with the Comrunity
Choi ce Aggregation Policy and prograns in California.
That's roughly anal ogous to what we're doing here.

In those, | provided testinony and
assistance in setting up the rules and boundari es
bet ween the Community Choi ce aggregators and their
host utilities, as well as policy and val uation of how
to deal with these stranded costs that the utilities
woul d be incurring when the Community Choice Program
community departs service fromthe utility.

And then, lastly, | advised a dozen or nore
I ndi vidual cities and counties when they were
considering CCA formation, in review ng with them what
are the costs and benefits of pursuing such a program

Q Thank you. And --
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Before you go
on, where is your office, and what state do you work
out of ?

MR. FULMER: | work out of California.
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: \What part of
the state?

MR. FULMER: The Bay Area.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Bay Area.
Okay. Just curious just where you're comng fromto
appear here today.

MR. FULMER:  Sure.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: So t hank you
for making the trip.

BY MS. MONAHAN:

Q Are you the same Mark Ful mer who submtted
direct rebuttal and surrebuttal testinony, including
exhibits, in this proceedi ng?

A Yes, | am

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to
any of your pre-filed testinony?

A No. | do not.

Q And, if | asked you the sane questions in
your direct rebuttal and surrebuttal testinonies
t oday, would your answers be the sanme?

A Yes. They woul d.

M5. MONAHAN: W th that, Chair, | nove
for the adm ssion of Mark Fulmer's direct rebuttal and
surrebuttal testinonies and acconpanyi ng exhibits.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
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you, Ms. Monahan.
Well, wi thout objection, we'll admt
the direct rebuttal and surrebuttal testinony of
M. Ful mer and the acconpanyi ng exhibits.
(Sierra Club direct rebuttal and
surrebuttal testinony and acconpanyi ng
exhibits of Mark Ful mer were admtted
I nto evi dence.)
BY MS. MONAHAN:
Q M. Fulmer, do you have a prepared sunmary
of your testinony today?
A Yes, | do.
Q Pl ease proceed.
A Thank you.
Good norning, Chair Fenn, Conm ssioner
Cl ark, Comm ssioner Harvey. Thank you for the
opportunity to provide the summary of ny testinony
her e.
| submtted a direct rebuttal and
surrebuttal testimnies on behalf of Sierra C ub,
addressing the valuation resources to -- to be
procured under the proposed Schedul e 100.
Across ny testinonies, | addressed six
| ssues: the appropriate valuation of the --

appropriate valuation franmework, the treatnent of
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I nterconnection and transm ssi on upgrade costs, REC
valuation, the role of federal production tax credits,
curtail ment assunptions in the nodeling, and price
policy scenari os.

First, regarding the valuation franework, |
believe that the Schedul e 100 provi des a reasonabl e
foundati on for val uing Schedule 100 projects, as it
estimat es avoi ded energy and capacity costs for
anal ogous renewable -- |arge renewabl e resources.

However, | also found nerit in exploring the
suppl ement al val uati on suggested by WRA wi t ness,
M. Boothman, that is running a system w de present
val ue revenue requirenment differential analysis to
provi de additional information for you in your
deci si on nmaki ng.

|, therefore, reconmmend that the Conmm ssion
adopt a Schedule 1 valuation that's based on Schedul e
38, while also requiring Rocky Muntain Power to al so
produce a PVRRD cal culation in the future, in order to
provi de sone additional evidence and to serve as a
check of the reasonabl eness of the Schedul e 100
cal cul ati ons.

Second, | recommended clarifying that
Schedul e 100 resources should bear only the

I nt erconnection and transm ssion upgrade costs that
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are directly associated with enabling the project to

physically interconnect and that no costs associ ated

with system expansion that benefits non-participating
custoners al so be included.

Third, throughout ny testinonies, |
expl ai ned that the renewabl e energy credits, RECs,
shoul d not be nonetized and added to the Schedul e 100
pri ci ng.

The conpany has provided no credible or
consi stent basis for valuing future REC revenues.
| ndeed, Schedul e 38 does not price RECs, nor does the
| RP use RECs in its cal cul ations.

Furthernore, retiring the REC program RECs
woul d not reduce the total REC value to the conpany.

However, if the Comm ssion believes that
nore information i s needed, it should -- it should not
deci de whether to include |ost REC value, until after
seei ng Rocky Mountain Power's cal cul ations, which
st akehol ders shoul d have an opportunity to exan ne and
coment on.

If, after that review, nothing credible has
been shown, then, the value should remain at zero,
whi ch shoul d be the default com ng out of this
pr oceedi ng.

Fourth, ny testinonies addressed federal
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sol ar production tax credits, or PTCs, which will not
be available to the proxy of resource avoi ded or

di spl aced here in the PacifiCorps. |IRP avoi ded cost
cal cul ati ons.

As | note, the -- the loss of the PTCis a
fact and not a sinple assunption, and it can have a
very significant inpact on the avoi ded cost
cal cul ati ons, and, as such, nust be addressed and the
nodel ing for the pricing of the program

Fifth, | reconmmended that Schedul e 100
resources not be nodel ed assunming a zero economnic
curtail nment.

Requi ri ng program resources to generate,
even though periods of negative market prices, would
unreasonably and arbitrarily increase the costs for
the program participants w thout necessarily
I ncreasing total renewabl e generation on the system

Wi | e Rocky Mountai n Power has suggest ed
that parties will have an opportunity to conment on
t he prudency of its Schedule 100 nodeling, the
Comm ssion need not wait to see future Schedul e 100
cal cul ations to decide today that programresources
shoul d be economcally curtailed in the nodeling.

And, finally, | recommend that Rocky

Mount ai n Power present avoi ded cost analysis for
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Schedule 1 projects. It should include information
for informational purposes, the results fromthe
social -- social cost of greenhouse gas price policy
scenario, if it's used inits |IRP.

This scenari o incorporates the environnental
externalities that the Conm ssion has |ong recogni zed
as real non-zero cost that would, thus, provide a
fuller picture of the social benefits of adding
renewabl e resources, even if those externalities are
not directly nonetized in these Schedul e 100 prices.

This concludes ny sunmary. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Thank you very
much, M. Ful mer.

M5. MONAHAN: Thank you M. Ful ner.

M. Fulnmer is now available for
Cross-exam nati on.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you, Ms. Monahan.

Okay. Let's turn to Ms. Wl ker.

M5. WALKER: No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you.

M. Russell?

MR. RUSSELL: No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ms. Hayes?
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M5. HAYES: Also no questions.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Ckay.

M. Gecu?
MR. GRECU. No questions. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: M. Moore?
MR. MOORE: No questions. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Conm ssi oner
Cl ark?

COW SSI ONER CLARK: | have no
guestions. Thank you for being here and for your
testi nony.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Sooner or
| ater, | hope the pressure gets to you, Comm ssioner
Harvey, but, for sonme reason, | think it won't.

So I'"'mjust teasing. No. W actually
appreci ate your questions. | tease you about it, but
we appreciate them

So go ahead.

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Can tell we have
a good rel ationshi p going here.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:
Q Al right. 1 have two areas | want to talk
to you about, so thank you for being here.

And this first one is tal king about the PTCs
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not being available to the conpany. And this has been
mentioned many tines in the hearing so far, and |
guess you're the witness that's |ucky enough or
unl ucky enough that | decide to ask him about it.

So is the -- well, so, first of all, the --
"' massum ng, fromthat statement, that it's your
belief that -- and probably based on know edge, that
the PTCs are available to the projects that are under
consideration for this program

A That's -- that is my assunption. And I

t hi nk one of the reasons that we're -- that -- that
t he Agency, you know, and Sierra Club are hoping that
this noves forward in an expeditious way is that they
can neet those deadlines that have been set by the
federal governnent and the IRS, in order to capture
t hose PTC credits.

Wth respect to the utility, they have
di scovery saying that no, they don't see the displaced
projects being eligible.

Q Okay. So they've answered that in

di scovery?

A Yes. They have.

Q Okay.
A That should be -- it's one of the
attachnments to, | think, nmy surrebuttal. | don't
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recall which, but it's in the record.
Q Al right. Thank you. Then, the second is

exam ning the issue of curtail nent.

A Yes.
Q And, when |I'm | ooking at your testinony,
|"m-- | guess | see two aspects there, and I want to

clarify what |I'mgetting out of it, and, then, you
tell me if I've understood it correctly, and, if not,
fix my m sunderstandi ng.

But the two aspects that |'m seeing are,

one, that it would result in an incorrect REC val ue

because, without them REC -- with themnot curtailing
when a -- do so, you'd have a different val ue of RECs
produced.

But then, the second aspect is that, not
acting on the econom cs of dispatch would ness up the
cost benefit anal ysis.

Are those the two nmain issues or there

others that |I'm m ssing?

A The second issue is the main point, that it
does ness up the -- the econom cs.
Pretty nmuch, there's -- we don't -- at | east

| woul d not want the program partici pants payi ng an
excessive amount for the RECs that they would be

retiring because they were running during tinmes of
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negative pricing.

Wth respect to howto -- how it values the
RECs, that -- the curtailnment is not necessarily --
the way the -- the REC valuation m ght occur in the

curtail ment would be like this.

If you think about it, a renewable project
woul d want to run, of course, as long as that -- or as
|l ong as there's a positive cash flowto it.

They don't want to run when they're | osing
noney. So they would be willing to run as long as the
price that they receive is -- is positive, and the
price that they would receive would be, effectively,
the production tax credit anount.

And, so if you have a negative price in the
mar ket, they would be willing to eat into that
production tax credit a certain anount to a negative
amount .

And, once it hits that, it's -- let's just
not even run because we have a negative cash fl ow
because of that.

So, you get below that, and then, it just is
not -- not economc to run, which actually gets us
back to the first one.

But the value of the REC, if you have a

known buyer for it, then, yeah, maybe you could sort
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of add that to the val ue.

But, as we've been saying, you just don't --
particularly now, the -- the market is unknown into
the future, so that really shouldn't be entering into
t he cal cul ati ons because as -- as we've heard fromthe
prior witnesses that -- for the nodeling for the |IRPs,
t hey assune not hing and they assune a zero val ue for
t hat .

| think 1"'mgoing a little bit in circles,
but is this answering your question?

COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Yes. That does.
| appreciate it. That's all | have. Thanks.

THE WTNESS: Yes. And | -- | would
have been di sappointed if you didn't have questions
for me.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:

Q | think we've pretty thoroughly heard
testimony from various w tnesses about the |ost val ue
of RECs proposal.

But you tal k about that and this alternative
proposal that was, | think, raised by M. Higgins, to
retire the RECs and turn them over to PacifiCorp in
support of the system

You don't support that proposal ?
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A That would not be ny first choice. | would
much prefer to have themretired and taken out of
conmmi ssi on.

| do see the Agency's position that, if that
kills the project, then, that's -- that's not an
optimal solution in nmy mnd. | think -- | think, in
Sierra Club, we would rather see these renewabl es
built, even if their RECs are not retired directly,
even though that's the preference.

It's better to have it there and have the
RECs transferred than to not have it there at all.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. All
right. Thank you. Appreciate that.

Al right. M. Fulnmer, that was pretty
qui ck and al nost painless, | suspect. Thank you for
your summary and appreciate you being here, but |
t hi nk we can excuse you.

THE W TNESS: Yes. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. All
right. Let's turn nowto -- | think we're ready to go
to the Division.

We're going to do the Division first,
then, the Ofice, is the plan.

And so, who are you going to cal

first, M. G ecu?
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MR. GRECU. |I'mgoing to call Robert
Davis first.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Ckay.

M. Davis, you knew that already. You' re on your way

up here.
MR. DAVIS: | anticipated that.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Yes, you did.
WIIl you raise your right armto the
swear ?
VWHEREUPOQN,

ROBERT DAVI S,
called as a witness and having been first duly sworn
to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but
the truth, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Thank you.
You may be seat ed.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR GRECU:
Q Good norning, M. Davis.
A Good nor ni ng.
Q Coul d you pl ease state and spell your nane
for the record?
A Robert A. Davis, ROB-E-R-T, A, |ast nane,
Davis, D-A-V-1-S.
Q And by whom are you enpl oyed, and what is
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your position?

A "' m enpl oyed by the Division of Public
Uility as a utility technical consultant.

Q And what's your business address?

A 160 East 300 South, Salt Lake City.

Q And have you participated in this docket on
behal f of the Division?

A Yes.

Q Can you briefly describe the scope of your
participation?

A Most of nmy work has -- has dealt with the
policy side of it and the Division's overall position
in this matter.

Q And did you review the conpany's
application, exhibits, and supporting testinony, along
with all the other parties' filings in this docket?

A Yes, | did.

Q And did you also review the parties'
responses to data requests?

A | did.

Q And did you prepare and cause to be filed
your direct testinony and DPU Exhibit 1.1 on Cctober
10, 2025 and your surrebuttal testinony filed on
Decenmber 11, 20257

A Yes.
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Q And do you have any changes or corrections
to either of those?

A No.

Q And, if | asked you the sane questions that
were posed in those testinonies today, would you
provi de the sane answers?

A Yes.

Q And do you adopt the contents of your
pre-filed testinony as part of your testinony today?

A Yes.

MR. GRECU. At this point, I'd like to
nove for adm ssion of M. Davis' testinonies and
associ ated exhi bits.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Okay. W thout
obj ection, we wll admt M. Davis' direct testinony
with its acconpanying exhibit his surrebuttal
testi nony.

(DPU direct testinmony with acconpanyi ng

exhi bit and surrebuttal testinony of

Robert Davis was adnmitted into

evi dence.)

MR. GRECU. Thank you.

BY MR, GRECU:
Q M. Davis, do you have a summary to share

t oday?
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A | do.
Q Pl ease proceed.
A | had both norning and afternoon on ny --

Good Morning, Chair Fenn, Comm ssioners
Cl ark, and Conm ssi oner Harvey.

The Division has reviewed Rocky Mountain
Power's application, supporting docunentation,
responses to data requests, and the parties' testinony
in this docket, as well as having discussions with the
parties.

Wth its recomendations, the Division
generally supports the concept of the Community Cl ean
Ener gy Program

Under the Community Cl ean Energy Act and
rel ated Conmmi ssion rules, the Comm ssion may approve
the program if it finds that the programis in the
public interest and the approved rates may not result
in a shifting of costs or benefits to
non-participating custoners.

The Division has the responsibility to
eval uate progranms such as this one, to ensure the
programis prudent and in the public interest.

The Division's main concerns in this docket
are avoiding shifting programcosts or benefits to

non-participants, providing transparency to program
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participants within the comunities, and all ow ng
custoners to opt out, should they choose not
participate in the program

The Division is aware of the conplexities of
desi gning the Community Renewal Program w thout
know ng the specifics that lend to the prudency of the
program

The Comm ssion nmust ensure that the program
partici pants pay the cost the programincurs, and reap
the benefits the program provides, and the progranis
revenues remain sufficient, even if projects are
limted in scope or subscription.

The Comm ssion nust also take into
consi deration that the program does not displace
resources that are part of the |east cost, |least risk
portfolio for all custoners.

The Division has reviewed the application as
wel | as other parties' testinony and concl udes that
t he program concept appears generally -- appears to
align with the | egislation.

Al t hough the parties have varying concerns
relating to the valuation of the resource, valuation
and treatnment of renewable energy certificate, or
RECs, and amount of the admi nistrative reserve fund

limt, they seemto generally be in agreement with
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other attributes of the program

The Division's other -- other wtness,

M. TimLenell of Daymark Energy Advisors, will offer
hi s recomendati ons regardi ng the val uati on net hod of
t he generation resource, the level of the reserve fund
bal ance, and neasurabl e costs.

While it has reservations regarding the
details of the program the Division finds that
approval of the programmmay be in the public interest,
I f it incorporates the recommendations offered in the
Division's direct rebuttal and surrebuttal
t esti noni es.

However, at this tinme, the prudency of the
programis based on hypotheticals and unknown
variables. This uncertainty raises concerns about
whet her the program should be approved at this tine
wi t hout program specifics.

The program s success is |argely dependent
upon the Commi ssion's determ nation of the resource
val uati on nethod, treatnment of RECs, and
adm ni strative reserves fund bal ance.

Shoul d the Conm ssi on approve the program
the Division recomends that it also notice a
requi rement for stakeholders to convene a work group

to devel op an annual reporting tenpl ate.
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Future reporting should provi de adequate
accounting details to enable parties to revi ew whet her
the programis prudent and in the public interest and
avoi ds cost and benefit shifting to non-participating
cust omer s.

I n conclusion, in concept and subject to its
recommendati on, the Division believes the programis
just, reasonable in result, and in the public
| nterest.

I f approved, the Division reserves the right
to offer further details or change its opinion, as
nore i nformation becones available in future filings
after the program becones operational.

This concludes ny sunmary. Thank you.

MR. GRECU. Thank you.

M. Davis is now avail able for
cross-exam nation and questions fromthe Conm ssion.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you for your summary, M. Davis.

Turn to Rocky Mount Power ?

M5. WALKER: No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay.
M. Russell?

MR. RUSSELL: | do have sone questions.

| hope this will be very brief.
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q M. Davis, |I'mgoing to ask you a couple
questions fromyour -- that are going to be based on
sone testinmony in your surrebuttal.

' mgoing to have you turn to page two of
t hat now, if you woul d.

A Ckay. Page two.

Q Yeah. The question at the top, starting on
line 19, expresses a concern related, | gather, to the
potential for a programresource to displace sone
ot her resource that may otherw se be acquired for al
custoners; right?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And you say, "As stated in nmy direct
testinony, a dedicated resource for this program has
the potential to displace other |east costs, |east
ri sk, renewabl e resources that could benefit all
custoners, which m ght better use avail able
transm ssion capacity.”

My question about that statenent is, do you
have sone reason to believe that a programresource
wi Il make | ess efficient use of the avail able

transm ssion capacity than a resource that's in a
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preferred portfolio?

A | -- | put that in there just as a concern.
| -- I don't think it's necessarily a | arge concern.
It's just sonething that | think the Comm ssion shoul d
take into consideration.

Possi bly, |ater on, as the program devel ops,

and nore -- and nore dedi cated programresources are

br ought online, there's that potential. That's --

that's why it's in the -- in the -- in ny testinony.
Q Okay. Thank you for that. I1'mgoing to

have you turn to page three of your surrebuttal.

A Ckay.

Q Agai n, the question at the top, and | think
this is on the sanme topic, right, that there's a
potential for, or an expression of concern about,
di spl acenent of resources froma | east cost, |east
risk portfolio.

And |'mgoing to have -- I'mgoing to read
fromyour statenent, starting at |ine 44, where you
say, "The public interest m ght be better served if an
I ncrenmental renewabl e resource neeting all custoner
| oad is acquired, rather than a resource for a
subj ect -- excuse nme -- a subset of custoners. O
course, many facts concerning specific resources and

| oad will bear on this question.
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“"The Division's concern is real, despite the
Division's current inability to forecast how and where
it mght arise.”

Can | summarize that by you saying we have a
concern, but we can't really quantify it at this tinme?

A Correct.
Q Okay. And then, down towards the bottom of
this page, you identify -- you nake citation to sonme

of the statutory provisions that are applicable here;

right?
A Uh- huh.
Q In one of those, starting at line 57, is a

reference to Section 904(4)(b), which you say
justifiably conplicates this program by prohibiting
any cost or benefit shifting between program
partici pants and non-participants; right?

A Yeah.

Q Okay. | know you're not a | awer, but
you' ve referenced the statute.

Is it your understanding that the statute
directs the Comm ssion to consider quantifiable costs
and benefits?

A That's my understanding. Yes.
MR. RUSSELL: Okay. Thank you. That's

all | have.
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THE W TNESS: Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Thank you,
M. Russell. Appreciate that.

Ms. Hayes?

M5. HAYES: No questions. Thank you

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ms. Mbnahan?

M5. MONAHAN: No questi ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: M. Mbore?

MR. MOORE: No questions fromthe OCS.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you.

Comm ssi oner Cl ark?

COW SSI ONER CLARK: | don't have any
guestions either. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Conm ssi oner
Har vey?

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q Good nor ni ng.

A Good nor ni ng.

Q | was actually on the exact sane page on ny
screen as M. Russell referred you to, so he shortened
sone of ny questions.

| ' massum ng you were here or listening to

t he hearings yesterday; is that a correct assunption?
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A Correct.

Q Okay. So I'd like to explore a little bit
with you how the resource that woul d be acquired by
t he conpany for this program would function.

I's that sonmet hing you think you can talk
with me about?

A How the -- how the resource would function?

Q On the systenf

A Well, it's like -- | nmean, inreality, it's
| i ke any other resource. Doesn't depend -- not
dependent on the technology type. It's going to be
putting energy to the grid.

Q Ckay.

A I s that

Q That where | want to start. Yes.

A Okay.

Q Ckay. So we heard, yesterday, that the
programis what's been ternmed a "net program" neani ng
there's not an attenpt to match up the actual usage
on -- at atine, at a nonent in time, wth actual
production in a nonent of time, whether it's a total
anmount over sone | arge anount of tine.

I's that your understanding of it?
A Yes.
Q Ckay. So is it your understanding that this
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resource woul d be dispatched, in the sense that it

m ght be occasionally turned off, in the same manner
t hat any other resource the conpany owns of the sane
type, as tinme plays out?

A Yeah. After hearing the testinony
yesterday, | have a better understandi ng, and
that's -- | would agree to that. Yes.

Q Okay. So, if it's treated exactly the sane
as any other systemresource, can it be said to be
using transm ssion or distribution nore or |ess
inefficiently than any other system resource?

A Il -- | think that's true.

Q It's true that it can be said it's

inefficient or efficient or that it can't be sai d?

A Yeah. What -- what you said. Yes.
Q Okay.
A Sorry.

Q Al right. No. That's no problem |

shoul d have asked it better.

A Your questions are hard.
COW SSI ONER HARVEY: That's ny j ob.
Al right. Al right. | think that's
all 1 have for you. Thank you.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
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BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:

Q M. Davis, | just have a question about page
five of your surrebuttal testinony, on |lines 84
t hrough 85. Well, let nme actually start on 82 and
have you read this. So I'lIl read it to you.

"However, the prudency of the program at
this time is based on hypotheticals and unknown
variables. This uncertainty raises concerns about
whet her the program should be approved at this tine
wi t hout additional program specifics.”

"' mnot sure what that -- what your proposal
I's, then. What do you think the Conmm ssion should do?

A The way | wote that, reading and hearing it
now, and probably strong words, but we're -- we're --
what we're concerned with, fromthe Division's

perspective, is -- is tests for the next step.

The program probably has to be approved to

nove on. It's a chicken and egg ki nd of thing.

Q Sure.

A | -- I think what we're really focusing on
Is -- 1s, if the Conm ssion approves this program

approves the resource, sonewhere in the future, the
program gets up and running, how are we going to
ensure that it's prudent, and then there is no

shifting of costs and benefits to non-participating
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parties?

| think that's the Division's
responsibility, going forward with this program is to
make sure that it's prudent. So we -- we want to nake
sure.

And, basically, that's what |'m saying is,
we're -- we're not a hundred percent sure what that is
right now. It -- it |ooks good in concept. (oing
forward, we need a little nore solidification, so we

can make sure that it's prudent, which is under the

st at ut e.
Q Ckay. | didn't interpret your statenent to
mean that we should reject the program | was -- and

so | think that you've clarified that.

"At this time," is the |anguage | was a
little concerned about.

But what |'m hearing you saying now is that
you understand, and the Division doesn't have an
obj ection to approving the program but what you're
really saying is that there should -- perhaps this is
too strong of a word -- it should be a conditional
approval or that there should be ongoing oversight,
and that's what you're really saying?

A That's correct. And that -- that's why we

suggest that the Comm ssion, if they approve the
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program is to also notice a work group, so the
parties can -- can determ ne what that reporting --
"1l use the word "tenplate” -- what that is going

forward, which is what we've done in other projects,

just to -- just so we can make sure that, not only
the -- the Division can ensure that the programis
operating prudent -- and that would be a work in
progress, |I'msure -- but also, all other

st akehol ders.
Q Okay. So that's helpful. So this working
group woul d devel op an annual reporting tenplate.

Anyt hing el se that you think are specifics
wth respect to this progranf

Your statenent was whether the program
shoul d be approved at this tinme w thout additional
program speci fics.

Are there -- is there anything you can
identify, as you're sitting here today, that you think
your deficiencies that this work group, beyond the
annual reporting tenplate, would address?

A No. | don't think so.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. All
right. Thank you. That's hel pful.
Al right. Thank you, M. Davis.

We' || excuse you. Appreciate you being here today.
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THE W TNESS: Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Turn back to
M. Grecu.
MR. GRECU. Thank you. The Division
would like to call M. Tinothy Lenell.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: M. Lenell,
wel cone.
WIIl you raise your right armto the
swear ?
VWHEREUPON,
TI MOTHY LENELL,
called as a witness and having been first duly sworn
totell the truth, the whole truth, and nothing but
the truth, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Thank you.
You may be seated.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. GRECU:
Q Good nor ni ng.
A Mor ni ng.
Q Coul d you pl ease state and spell your nane
for the record?
A My name is Tinmothy Lenell, T-1-MOT-H-Y
L- E- N- E-L-L.

Q And what is your business address?
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A My business address is 370 Main Street,

Suite 325, Worcester, Massachusetts 01608.

Q And by whom are you enpl oyed, and in what
capacity?

A ' m enpl oyed by Daymark Energy Advisors as a
seni or consultant.

Q And can you pl ease provide just a brief
description of Daymark in its business?

A Daymar k provi des integrated policy planning

and strategic decision support services to North

American electric and natural gas industries, serves

di verse clientele by providing consulting services to
organi zations involved with energy markets, including

renewabl e energy producers, private and public

utilities, transm ssion owners,

ener gy producers and

traders, ener gy consuners,

and consuner

advocat es,

regul atory agenci es,

and public policy and energy

resource organi zations.

And | will stop there.

Q And have you participated in this docket on
behal f of the Division?

A Yes.

Q And can you briefly describe your scope of
work in this docket?

A The Division retained Daymark to assist in
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eval uating the Rocky Mountain Power's application and
proposed net hodol ogies, to ensure that the Conmunity
Cl ean Energy Program neets the statutory requirenents.

Q And have you provided testinony to this
Comm ssi on before?

A No.

Q Can you provide just a brief overview of
your education and rel evant work experience?

A Certainly. | have a bachelor's degree in
econom cs fromNorthern Illinois University and a
master's degree in economcs fromlowa State
Uni versity.

' man econom st with over six years of
econom ¢ anal ysis experience fromthe state of
Nebraska. | have an additional five years of
experience in rate pricing for electric utilities.

| worked for Omaha Public Power District,
OPPD, in various roles, concluding ny tenure as the
manager of pricing and rates before joining Daymark.

At OPPD, | |led the devel opnent of several
techni cal studies, including the cost of service
study, the | oad |oss study, devel opnent of denmand
managenent prograns, design of rates and renewabl e
rider offerings, and a nunber of associ ated studies.

Since joining Daymark, | have assi sted
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clients in rate design, cost of service anal ysis,
revenue requirenment analysis, in Massachusetts and
Loui siana, as well as other projects throughout the
Us.

| have also submtted direct testinony in
support of Concordia Electric Co-op's general rate
case before the Louisiana Public Service Comm ssion in
docket U-37586.

Q And did you review the conpany's
application, exhibits, and supporting testinony, along
with all the other parties' filings in this docket?

A Yes.

Q Have you al so reviewed parties' responses to
data requests?

A Yes.

Q And did you prepare and cause to be filed
your direct testinmony and DPU Exhibits 2.1 through
2.3, filed on Cctober 10th, your rebuttal testinony
and DPU Exhibit 2.1-R, filed on Novenber 13, 2025, and
your surrebuttal testinony, filed on Decenmber 11
20257

A Yes.

Q Do you have any changes or corrections to
those filings?

A No.
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Q And, if | ask you the sane questions posed
in that testinony today, would you provide the sane
answer s?

A Yes.

Q Do you adopt your pre-filed testinony as
part of your testinony today?

A Yes.

MR GRECU. 1'd like to nove to admt
M. Lenell's testinonies and associ ated exhibits filed
In this docket.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you, M. G ecu.

Well, without objection, we wll admt
M. Lenell's direct testinony with the acconpanyi ng
exhibits, his rebuttal testinmony with the exhibit, and
his surrebuttal testinony.

(DPU direct testinmony with acconpanyi ng

exhibits, rebuttal testinony with

exhi bit, and surrebuttal testinony of

Timothy Lenell were admtted into

evi dence.)

MR. GRECU. Thank you.
/1
BY MR. GRECU:

Q M. Lenell, do you have a summary to share
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t oday?
A Yes.
Q Pl ease proceed.
A Good norning, Chair Finn, Conmm ssioner

Cl ark, Conmm ssioner Harvey.

Daymark was retained by the Division to
assist in reviewng the conpany's application seeking
Comm ssi on approval to inplenment the Comunity Cl ean
Ener gy Program

My testinony eval uates whet her the
met hodol ogi es proposed in this proceeding conply with
the statutory requirenents for the program set forth
I n Utah Code Section 54-17-904, which, anong ot her
things, requires that the rates approved by the
Comm ssion for participating custoners nmay not result
I n any cost shifts or benefits to any non-partici pant
custoners or any other custonmer of the qualified
utility, beyond the participating community
boundari es.

My recommendati ons focus on ensuring that
t he Comm ssion can rely on the proposed net hodol ogi es
to prevent cost shifts and benefits to
non-participants through the life of the program

Have three primary recomendati ons.

The first, resource valuation. The conpany
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proposed to utilize a one-tinme resource val uation
according to the Schedul e 38 net hodol ogy for
estimating the avoi ded cost benefits of the program
resources.

In ny view, the static approach may result
m sal i gnment with actual benefits throughout the
lifetime of this program which could violate the
statute's no cost shift nandate to non-participants.

As an alternative, | suggest the utilization
of Schedule 38 for the quantified energy benefits,
updat ed annual |y according to the nost recent Schedul e
38 quarterly update, to reflect the margi nal cost of
energy according to the nost current market
condi ti ons.

For capacity benefits, | suggest the conpany
devel op a capacity valuation nethod consistent with
Its existing planning processes to better capture the
I ncrenmental capacity benefits of the program
resources, rather than relying on the timng of a
di spl acenent proxy resource for capacity val uation.

Thi s approach better satisfies the statute's
mandate to account for any quantifiable benefits.

Two, annual reconciliation and reserve
bal ance target. | reconmmend an annual reconciliation

process to ensure target bal ances are achi eved

Page 68

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo 0o b~ wWw N -

N N D N NN P P P P P P PP R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO O M W N P+ O

Hearing Cont'd

t hroughout -- through rate adjustnents that are
supported by cl ear governance processes whi ch address
program nodi fi cati ons and annual reporting

requi renments, such as the participation rates,
renewabl e production, interest rates, and other costs.

Additionally, in nmy rebuttal testinony, the
conpany -- in its rebuttal testinony, the conpany
stated it was willing to reduce the admnistrative
reserve fund Iimt to three years instead of the five
years originally proposed by the conpany.

As | noted in my testinony, the reserve fund
limt should be based on a quantitative analysis
supporting the proposed duration.

Three, inclusion of neasurable costs.

Consi stent with statutory requirenment, the program
rights may not result in the shifting of cost or
benefits to any non-participants.

| recommend that neasurable costs be
i ncluded in the programrate, as they beconme known and
verifiable to the conmpany. This would include any
addi tional adm nistrative costs for maintenance of the
program throughout its lifetime, as well as updates to
transm ssion costs if -- as they becone avail abl e.

These recommendati ons seek to ensure that

t he net hodol ogies utilized produce accurate costs and

Page 69

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo 0o b~ wWw N -

N N D N NN P P P P P P PP R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO O M W N P+ O

Hearing Cont'd

benefits, and that those are allocated to program

participants, consistent with the statutory

requi renents to protect non-participating custoners.
Thank you. That concludes ny summary.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you, M. Lenell.

MR. GRECU. Thank you. The witness is
now avail abl e for cross-exam nation and questions from
t he Comm ssi on.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Thank you.

Ms. Wal ker?

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY Ms. WALKER:
Q | just have one or two questions for you.
Does the DPU take a position with respect to
the conpany's request to prioritize replenishnment of
the adm nistrative reserve fund --

A | don't think I'm understanding the
guestion. Yeah.

Q In his rebuttal testinony, M. Eller agreed
to a three year reserve fund contingent upon the
ability to prioritize repl enishnent of the
adm ni strative reserve fund.

| believe the Agency and -- has expressed

support for that proposal, and I'mjust curious if the
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DPU -- | don't think that you took a position in your
surrebuttal testinony.

A Sure. Yeah. Thank you for that. And |

think it's -- the intent is not to have those hair --
as -- as it was referred to, those hairline
situations, and -- and the programterm nate

prematurely.
So the ordering of the replenishing, | -- |
don't think there's any issue with that.
MS. WALKER: Okay. Thank you. No
further questions.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you.
M. Russell, let's go to you next.
MR. RUSSELL: Thank you.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR RUSSELL:
Q Good norning, M. Lenell.
A Good nor ni ng.
MR. RUSSELL: Actually, before | get to
guestions of M. Lenell, | just want to nmake a
clarification.
Ms. Wal ker's question nmade reference to
the Agency's position, with respect to the

repl eni shment of the adm nistrative reserve fund.
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The Agency has, and this is in
Chri st opher Thomas' surrebuttal testinony, supported
prioritization of the replenishnment of that fund, but
not the three-year position that the conpany has --
t hose are -- two things are sort of conmbined in the
guestion. | just want to make clear what the Agency's
position is here, before we get started.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Sure.

MR. RUSSELL: And, again, that's in
M. Thomas' surrebuttal testinony.
BY MR. RUSSELL:

Q M. Lenell, | want to talk, probably not
surprisingly, about the Division's proposal to conduct
an annual cost benefit analysis of the program
resource.

You have indicated, in your surrebutta
testinony, that there needs to be sone way that -- to
find, you know, a capacity benefit, but that you
haven't proposed one; right?

A My -- ny proposal is to align with the
conpany's process for determ ning capacity benefits
for the increnmental resource.

Q Right. But the -- well, but the conpany's
position on that is that it does all of it all at

once, which -- and they do at once; right?
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A That's the current applications.

Q Okay. And, to your understandi ng, does the
conpany have sonme way of doing capacity on a different
sort of tinme horizon than the energy of what it costs?

A | -- 1 don't think it would be any different
fromsonmething |like the -- how the conpany woul d do

non-wire alternatives to estimte capacity deferral of

I nvestnment in a feeder line or whatever the case -- so
it -- it would follow their -- their procedures for
estimating, in this case, a -- the specific resource,

the increnental benefits, the capacity benefits for
t he program resource.

So | think they have nethods in place to --
to estimate that.

Q And just -- I'mtrying to understand what
your understanding is about that because, what the
conpany's proposal to do, would be to conduct a
cal cul ati on, using avoi ded cost nethodol ogy, once at
t he begi nni ng.

And your proposal is to do, well, we're
going to do that energy kind of on an annual basis.
When is it that you understand the conpany

woul d be doing the avoi ded cost on the capacity basis?

A VWhen the -- when it secured the resource --
or it -- determining specifically for the resource.
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So it could be -- a capacity is -- is
different than energy, in the sense that, once they
have that question and answer that question, those --
t hat doesn't need to be annually updated, right, that,
over tinme, the fixed cost associated with capacity
addi ti ons can be answered when the program resources
I s sel ected.

Q So you woul d have the conpany do it on a
different time horizon than what you're proposing for
the conpany to do with respect to the energy
val uation; yes?

A They -- they could occur at the sane tine,
but then, it doesn't have to annually update |ike the
ener gy benefits.

Q Okay. But, with respect to, let's say, the
very first year of the resource, you're doing the
energy valuation and the capacity valuation based on
t he same forward-|ooking outl ook.

But then, you would, after that point, never
do the capacity valuation again, you would only do the
energy val uation, and you do it again every year;
right?

A I wouldn't state that you would never do the
capacity val uation again.

So it -- it wouldn't need to be done
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annual ly. But, as |IRP assunptions change, as -- as
you update things |like the marginal cost of -- of
capacity, those inputs -- so it mght update just |ess

frequently, such as with | RP updates.

Q And the | RP updates every year; right?

A Yeah.

Q Okay.

A To ny under st andi ng.

Q Ckay. Let's set the capacity part aside for
now and just focus on the energy and how t hose annual
| RP updates may affect what's happeni ng.

You, in your rebuttal testinony, and | can
refer you to aline if you need to, but refer to the
program as a "but for" program right?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And it's on line, | think, 43, if ny
handwiting -- it's bad -- | think it's |ine 43.

And, by that, | gather you nean, in the
absence of the program it wouldn't be adding a
program resource; right?

A Correct.

Q When you say that it's a "but for" program
are you anticipating that these sort of annual updates
will allow us to make a determ nation about what

benefits can be associated with the resource in a sort
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of "but for" world?

A I "' m not understanding the question --

Q Well, so, at the very outset, we can | ook at
the addition of the resource versus what the plan is
now, and we can say, here's what the benefits of that
resource are conpared to what we woul d ot herw se be

doi ng, assum ng not hi ng el se changes; right?

A Uh- huh.

Q Ckay. |Is that a "yes"?

A Yes.

Q For purposes of the record.

And then, we're going to do that again next
year, and the year after that, and the year after
that; right?

A Yes.

Q And is it your sort of understanding that,
every year that we do that, we'll be able to get an
under st andi ng of what the benefits are of the program
by assum ng that the program otherw se wouldn't -- or
t he programresource otherw se wouldn't have been
acquired?

A So the -- the benefits are connected to --
the energy would be connected to the avoi ded costs of
t he Schedul e 38, and then, the capacity benefits would

separately be increnentally estimted, based on
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does -- does it defer capacity or answering those
guestions, or does it provide increnmental capacity
benefits?

Q Right. But, in order to identify the
benefits, the benefit is sort of defined as how that

resource changes the system right? And you cal cul ate

t he --

A Correct.

Q Yes; right?

A Correct.

Q Okay. And is it your belief that we'll be
able to do that every year down -- like, let's say,

it's year seven, we've been doing it every year, sone
assunpti ons have changed in the IRP
Are you assum ng that, by doing that avoided
cost valuation in year seven, that we'll be able to
| sol ate the benefits of that programor that resource?
A The increnmental benefits of the resource can
be quantifiable. Yes.
Q Okay. And I'mgoing to give you a scenario
that | think is a not unrealistic scenario for how
t hi ngs may play out.
At the beginning, we'll be able -- as |
said, we'll be able to | ook at how the resource plays

wth the plan that the conpany has al ready, you know,
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formed inits IRP, right? It didn't include this
resource in its IRP because it's supposed to be
i ncrenental or sonething.

And now, we can quantify the benefits;
right?

A Yes.

Q And then, once the PPA is executed and
approved, the conpany, then, adds that as an existing
resource in its IRP;, right?

A Correct.

Q In every IRP that follows, that resource is
part of the m x of resources that wll serve the
system right?

A Correct.

Q Okay. And, as a result of having that
resource available to serve the system future
deci si ons about what resources we may add wll, or
may, change; right?

A Yes. And that's why this is not dependent
on a proxy resource; right? The increnental val uation
I s not dependent on displacing sonething el se.

Q Right. But, as a result of having this
resource on the system-- and there will be other
changes; right? 1In every IRP, we may change the

forward price curve.
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A Sure.
Q Resource costs may change. You know, | oad
forecasts may change. But all of those things will be

changing with the programresource included in the
resource mx; right?

A Correct.

Q And so we'll be able to tell how the conpany
wll, in each successive | RP, have reacted to those
vari ous changes wi thout the resource?

A Yeah. So | -- and | think, think this is
where the capacity valuation, by the -- by the
Conm ssi on's opinion, whether or not there should be
annual |y updated capacity valuation or should that be
addressed on the onset, to acknow edge the fact that,
when it's included within the IRP, that we're -- we're
in a different -- we've now included those -- those
resources in our optimzation of the system

Q Okay. And | really just kind of want to
focus on the energy part of it because that's --

A Okay.

Q -- your proposal. I'm-- so l'mnot really
tal ki ng about what it m ght displace, in terns of
capacity or other resources, but, rather, what sort of
energy benefits it may bring.

A So -- so the energy benefits, yeah, let's --
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| -- I think that's nore clear, is it brings the --
the estimate of the Schedul e 38 provides the marginal
energy benefits, the margi nal energy benefits for the
program resource.

Q Ckay. But if, in year seven of the program
resource, we've had, you know, six IRPs that have --
or I RP updates that have occurred since the tinme that
the resource was first included, again, pricing has
changed, |oad forecasts have changed, conpany's
deci si on maki ng about everything in each IRP has
changed, and sonme of that includes the existence of
this resource; right?

A Yeah. But, also, the forecast, a static
forecast, would have significant variations from
actual -- the actual benefits that the resource
provi des.

So, if you use Schedule 38, but statically,
seven years down the road, whatever that nunber is,
$20 per negawatt, whatever that nunber is, wll be
significantly different than what the conpany woul d
estimate that -- that value to be.

If they were in -- if we were in 2027,
estimted 2028, that estimted energy value is nuch
different with a one-year lag tinme than it is when

you're two years prior

Page 80

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo 0o b~ wWw N -

N N D N NN P P P P P P PP R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO O M W N P+ O

Hearing Cont'd

So there's -- there's that sane issue with a
static.

Q Well, what you don't have in a static, as
you termit, valuation is the conpany's subsequent
resource deci sion changes or resource sort of planning
assunptions that update and that update as a result of
the inclusion of the resource or potentially as an
I ncl usion of the resource; right?

A But this -- this programis expected to
estimate the actual no -- with the no cost shift, it's

t he actual benefits.

So what those changes actually -- now, if
the -- if the market saturates with sol ar, and now,
solar is |less valuable, that is what the -- the

program -- that's what the -- the no cost shift
mandate is trying to -- what is the actual benefit?

So we actually do want to neasure that. W
actually do want to neasure the -- the benefit of --
of the resource as it progressives through tine,
because there m ght be a dilution or the opposite;
right? Solar m ght be nuch nore val uabl e.

And we want to have the program participants
realize the actual benefits, and that's what the
annual benefit does.

So we actually -- that's not a -- that's not

Page 81

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo 0o b~ wWw N -

N N D N NN P P P P P P PP R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO O M W N P+ O

Hearing Cont'd

a critique of the program That's actually a design
and intent to show that this is actually the val ue
this margi nal resource is producing, this increnental
"pbut for" programis -- is producing, is -- iIs the --
t he margi nal energy.

W -- we want that to be part of the
program

Q | understand that that's your point. |'m
questi oni ng whet her you can actually do that.

And here's -- | nean, what |'ve been trying
to get at is, if, in -- |1 keep using year seven, if,
I n year seven, where it's attenpting to isolate the
| npacts of a resource on the system but there have
been many changes to forward price curves, |oad
forecast, et cetera, and other decisions have been
made, can we actually isolate how the conpany woul d
have reacted to those other things in the absence of
t hat resource?

A It's not what they woul d have done in the --
in the past. It's forward-looking. |It's this is the
value that that resource is actually bringing going
forward.

So it's always the forward-I|ooking rate.
We're not -- we're not retroactively | ooking or saying

what woul d have been the case.
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We're -- we're trying to answer what is the
value of this incremental resource, and it's best
estimted by a margi nal basis of -- of energy, which
t he conpany can estimate through the Schedul e 38
met hodol ogy process.

Q And so you're saying that the conpany,
havi ng made decisions as a result of -- partially as a
result of the resource being added, that otherw se
| ower market prices, but only | ower narket prices
because of the addition of that resource, you're
sayi ng we can sonehow i sol ate the program resources
contribution to that?

A ' msaying that this programis trying to
allow a resource that otherwi se wouldn't be built, so
we're not taking into account proxy deferral, we're
not taking into account the conpany's -- the -- the
planning. This is "but for" program

And so, in -- in being a "but for" program
you are -- you are trying to estinate the -- the
actual benefits that this resource is bringing that's
best estimated by the margi nal energy benefits that
could be -- and we can utilize the existing framework
within the Schedul e 38 val uati on.

Q Yeah. | understand that's your point. |'m

j ust questioning, you know, how would you determ ne
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what the market benefits of a resource are, absent the
decision to include the resource seven years down the
road? And you can't do that; can you?

A | don't -- | don't understand the concern.
The -- the seven years down the road, we will be
estimating the next year's margi nal energy benefit,
and the conpany can provide an estinmated nmargi nal
energy cost for the -- the resource, based on the
current market conditions.

Q And can it tell us what resources it would
currently have avail abl e, what market choices, front
office transactions that otherw se would have engaged
in, in the absence of the resource because, you know,
maybe when the resource was added, we subsequently
deci ded ot her resources now nmake nore sense, even if
they're not like for like, that, to optimze the
portfolio, we need other things or don't need other
t hi ngs?

Can we do that? Can we do that exercise
seven years from now?

A | don't think the counterfactual exercise
t hat you're suggesting is one that's required.

Q How woul d you ensure that the program
participants enjoy the benefits of bringing their --

this resource on, if you don't do that?
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A The program benefits would receive the val ue
of the marginal value of their -- their -- the energy
costs.

The program -- the program participants w ||

receive both the energy valuation fromthe Schedul e
38, updated annually, and then, an estimation of
capacity benefits, based on the increnental benefits
t hat the program resource brings.

Q And that woul d be based, in part, on all of
t he decisions that the conpany has made, fromthe tine
that the programresource is acquired until today,
whenever today is, in terns of your annual energy

val uation; right?

A So the -- each year, there would be an
update of the -- the forecasting nmetrics and a nore
accurate representation of the marginal value of -- of

t he energy as we proceed forward through tine.

Q Okay. | think we've probably exhausted
where we can get with this.

Let me ask you about the resource bal ance.

You understand that the resource reserve bal ance is
I ntended to act as a backstop for the program right?
Or the program resource?

A Correct.

Q Ckay. And that the value of that resource
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reserve bal ance, at least as is contenplated by the
parties, would be twelve and a half years of the
prograns share of the cost of the resource; right?

A Correct.

Q And, if we're going to update the avoi ded
energy costs every year, is that resource reserve
target a noving target?

A So the -- it's always a noving target
because you have participation rates changes, you have
changes in adm nistration costs, so your reserve
targets -- so ny suggestion is that the target, the
annual update should -- the annual rate adjustnent
shoul d update to ensure that the targets are net.

That twelve and a half years, every year
you're going to not be at twelve and a half years, due
to changes in, like |I said, participation rights and
ot her -- other things.

So yes. It -- it would create a change, but
that change is expected to occur fromall the other
i nputs within the -- the Schedule 100 rate.

Q Changes in the participation rate may change
the programrate, but they wouldn't change the reserve

target; would they? The resource reserve target?

A Well, the -- the reserve -- resource reserve
target is -- a net of the, a net of the programcosts
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m nus the avoi ded costs.

And -- and so, in a -- | see what you're
sayi ng. Ckay.

So you're saying, in the static approach,
the twelve and a half year bal ance renmains the sane
dol l ar figure; correct?

Q | think so. | think, if you do a, you know,
one valuation of the resource at the outset, the
adm nistrative reserve target, | agree, will change,
kind of depending on where there's a delta between

forecast of costs and actual costs, but the resource

reserve target wll be set.
A Sure.
Q The rate may need to adjust, based on

participation --

A Correct.

Q -- to ensure that we keep it, but the
resource reserve target would be known at the outset.

Under an annual energy val uation, though,

that, assuming it's based on a, you know, forward | ook
of the nunber of years, that would need to change
every year, the target would need to change every
year; would it not?

A | think -- | think it would change the

reserve target --
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Q Ckay.

A -- of twelve and a half years.

MR. RUSSELL: Okay. Thank you. That's
all 1 have.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you, M. Russell

Let's turn to Ms. Hayes.

M5. HAYES:. Thank you. | have a few
gquesti ons.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Ckay.

CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY MS. HAYES:

Q Good norning, M. Lenell. 1It's nice to neet
you.

A Good nor ni ng.

Q You' ve been involved in public utility rate
regul ation for five years; is that correct?

A Yes.

Q And, in your capacity as a public utility
expert, are you famliar with traditional regulatory
principles, such as that rates and regul ati ons need to
be just and reasonabl e?

A Yes.

Q Are you famliar with the traditional

regul atory principle that forbids unreasonable or

Page 88

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo 0o b~ wWw N -

N N D N NN P P P P P P PP R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO O M W N P+ O

Hearing Cont'd

undue di scrim nation between types of custoners?

A Yes.

Q As a matter of regulatory policy, would you
agree that custoners participating in the Community
Cl ean Energy Program are entitled to traditional
regul atory safeguards, such as protection from unduly
di scrim natory rates?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. So you agree then that participants
of the Community Cl ean Energy Program shoul d be
granted the sane regulatory protections as all rate
payer s?

A Yes. Wth -- with -- and just to clarify,
too, this is a voluntary program and, being such,
there m ght be, you know, volatility. There m ght
be -- the voluntary nature allows for program
participants to -- to not be part of the program
should they -- they feel |ike, you know, the program
rate is -- is not desirable or that they just don't
want to participate for any reason.

Q Right. So but participating in the program
doesn't change foundational rate maki ng consi derations
for participants relative to non-participants, does
it?

A No. | don't think it does.
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M5. HAYES. Okay. That's all | have.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you, Ms. Hayes.
Next attorney, Ms. Monahan?
M5. MONAHAN: No questions. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Ckay.
M. Moore?
MR. MOORE: No questions. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Okay. Let's
turn to Conm ssioner Cl ark.
COW SSI ONER CLARK: | have no
questi ons.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Ckay.
Comm ssi oner Harvey?
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY COWM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q Good nor ni ng.

A Mor ni ng.

Q I'"d like to ask you a couple of questions
about the statute that you reference about not
shifting costs or benefits. Wuld that be okay?

A Yeah.

Q Al right. So the reference, for the
record, is Title 54-17-904(4). That's where you're

citing; correct? That sound famliar?
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A Yes. Yes, it does.
Q Okay. So | would like to -- and you can

take this subject to check, but I'mjust going to read

alittle bit of that statute, and then, | want to ask
you sonme questions about it. |Is that all right?
A Yes.

Q Al right. So 4, the Section 4, says, "The
rates approved by the Comm ssion for participating
custoners,"” and then, it has an A B, C

And the A says, "Shall be based on the
factors included in Subsection 2D and any ot her factor
determ ned by the Comm ssion to be in the public
I nterest.”

And then, B is the one that tal ks about not
shifting costs or benefits.

And then, Cis the one that tal ks about,
"shall take into account any quantifiable benefits to
the qualified utility."

Does that all seem consistent with what you
remenber ?

A Yes, it does.

Q Ckay. So, looking at the section right
above it, then, this 2D, that it says we're supposed
to consider these factors, D starts out, "Projected

rates for participating custoners,"” and then, it lists
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two subsections, and the second subsection |lists three
subsections, and then, there's a third part under the
first one.

But that third part says, "the ongoing costs
at the tinme of the application.”

Al right. So I'mcurious about, when
you're tal king about the annual update, is there
anything in that statute that specifically references
an annual update versus these provisions that talk
about the tinme of the application and projected rates?

A Yeah. That's a good question. So | don't
think it -- the statute nentions an annual update.

So the idea of the annual update is to
ensure that the -- the energy or the -- the benefits
that are quantified, as we progress through tinme, we
know t hat that forecast is -- is, you know, going to
be in the air over tine.

And so, by annually updating, we're getting
the nost recent and -- and best estimate for the
value, for the -- the energy benefits for the -- for

t he resource itself.

So -- so, to answer your question directly,
it doesn't say an annual update within -- within the
program but inplies that -- no -- no cost shifts

mandate inplies that, to the best of the ability,
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that, if we know that the value of the energy is

sonet hing other than what it is seven years down the
road, we realize that that estimate for energy was far
different, just based on the realities of where we are
t oday.

That annual update will be able to best
address that, opposed to having that one-tinme static
val uati on.

Q So it's your testinony that the -- that
there's an inplied mandate in 4B, this no shifting,
that overrides the explicit mandate to set projected

rates at the tinme of the application?

A It -- it's not -- there's not -- ny -- |
woul dn't say "overrides.”" | -- 1'd say is in
alignment with the -- if -- if we set -- on the onset
of the application, if -- if you determ ne that the

best way, on the onset of the application, is to have
a annually updating rate, | think that woul d be
consistent with that.

But I'"'m-- I'mnot an attorney so that --
that -- but that -- that would be ny -- that they
could be in alignnment, both of those statenents.

Q Al'l right. Thank you for that. A couple of
ot her questi ons.

So a lot of the things that | had witten
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down were, at |least tangentially, addressed in your
previous cross with M. Russell, but I would like to
expl ore the idea of recursive estimations, in terns of
doing this annually.

Based on the qualifications that you
mentioned at the start of your testinony, |'m assun ng
you' ve had some econonic training in nodeling, and
particularly, time series nodeling?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And so you're famliar, then, that,
when you have a tine series that has a recursive term
meani ng referencing either a previous or a future
period in the current equation, that that introduces
sone conplications into estimation?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And, in this case, as M. Russell
poi nted out, the conplication that would be introduced
Is that the resource exists, and that, once it exists,
it's difficult to figure out any counterfactuals; is
that correct?

A Yeah. That -- that is what he was
descri bi ng.

Q Okay. And then, my understandi ng of your
response to that was, you didn't think that mattered?

A My -- ny response was to -- not that it
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doesn't matter, but that the annual updates provided

t he nost accurate forward-|ooking estimate for energy
goi ng forward through the entire program That's, you
know, over the next 20 years, that that -- that would
be a better estimate.

Q But you acknow edge that that future val ue,
whether it's estimated in year 7, or 10, or 20, that
It's i npacted by the fact that the resource now
exi sts; correct?

A Sure. Yes.

Q Okay. And do you also agree that a simlar
| evel of scrutiny is never applied to a conpany, a

regul ar conpany, resource?

A You nmean this | evel of update and --

Q An annual review to deci de whet her conpany
resources --

A Sure. And | -- | think that this |evel of
reviewis -- is unique to this program and -- and

it's -- yeah. Go ahead.

Q And you woul d base that, the justification
for this proposed | evel of review, on the 4(b), the no
cost shifting or benefit -- cost or benefit shifting?

A And (c), 4(b) and (c).

Q Then, it's --

A -- quantified --

Page 95

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo 0o b~ wWw N -

N N D N NN P P P P P P PP R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO O M W N P+ O

Hearing Cont'd

Q Quantified. OCkay.

A -- that inpacts the cost of service.

Q Okay. Were you either here or listening to
t he proceedi ng yesterday, when the project -- or the
Agency's witness, Higgins, testified?

A Yes.

Q Okay. He made a distinction, in terns of an
update, to talk about that there's a difference
bet ween reval uing the resource every year versus
updating inputs. Okay?

And |'m assum ng, given the extensive nature
of the update that you're proposing, that you would
say it's nore of an -- a value of the resource update?

A Yes.

Q Okay. What type of additional cost to the
program woul d you anticipate -- to both the program
and to the conpany, would you anticipate this type of
an update woul d cause?

A Yeah. That's -- that's a good question. |
was -- the -- the intent is to rely on existing
met hodol ogi es, such as the Schedule 38, for the annual
update for the energy, and then, the capacity
val uation to be based on the conpany's, you know,
exi sting processes for doing that.

So the hope is that, by leveraging that, it

Page 96

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo 0o b~ wWw N -

N N D N NN P P P P P P PP R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO O M W N P+ O

Hearing Cont'd

woul d introduce -- there's sone recognition that it
wi Il introduce admnistrative costs to -- to perform
t hose, but the hopes is that that woul dn't be
significant.

Q So you're saying there wouldn't need to
be -- other than nmaybe the first tinme, there wouldn't

need to be any new procedures devel oped, but that the

actual work would still have to take place?
A That actual work. Yes.
COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Okay. | think

the rest of ny questions were covered already, so |'I|
| eave it there. Thank you.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Ckay.

M. Grecu, | think | neglected to give you an
opportunity, given the cross that occurred, if you had
any redirect for M. Lenell?

MR. GRECU. | don't. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. And,
just to make sure we are clear on the record, | also
did not give you an opportunity to -- there was sone
limted cross of M. Davis.

Do you have any redirect for M. Davis?
We can recall him if you do.

MR. GRECU: No, | don't. Thank you.
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PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. All
right. Thank you.

| have no questions, M. Lenell. Thank
you very nuch for being here, and you can step down.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Okay. W're

going to take a break until eleven o'clock or just a

couple mnutes after. Well, let's just say five after
el even, and then, we'll finish our [ast w tness.
Okay?

(OFf the record.)

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. We'l|
go back on the record.

And we'll turn to the Ofice of
Consuner Services, M. More.

MR. MOORE: The O fice of Consuner
Services calls Anthony Sandonato to the stand and asks
t hat he be sworn.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: M. Sandonat o,
wel cone.

WIIl you raise your right armto the
swear ?
/1
VHEREUPON,

ANTHONY SANDONATO,

Page 98

Veritext Lega Solutions
Caendar-Utah@veritext.com 801-746-5080




© 00 N oo 0o b~ wWw N -

N N D N NN P P P P P P PP R
o A W N P O © 00 N OO O M W N P+ O

Hearing Cont'd

call ed as a witness and having been first duly sworn
to tell the truth, the whole truth, and nothi ng but
the truth, was exam ned and testified as foll ows:
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Thank you.
You may be seat ed.
DI RECT EXAM NATI ON
BY MR. MOORE:

Q Coul d you please state and spell your nane
for the record?

A My name is Anthony Sandonato. That's
A-N-T-H-ONY SA-ND- O N-AT-0O

Q How are you enpl oyed, and what is your
busi ness address?

A " man outside consultant for J. Kennedy and
Associ ates. My business address is 570 Col oni al Park
Drive, Suite 305, Roswell, Georgia.

Q For whom are you testifying today?

A ' m appearing on -- on behalf of the Utah

O fice of Consuner Services.

Q Have you testified before this Conm ssion
bef ore?
A No. | have not.

Q Woul d you like to give a brief background of
your work and educational experience?

A Certainly. After receiving ny undergraduate
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degree in nucl ear engineering, | began working in
energy efficiency prograns, where | worked in the
sout heast designing and adm ni stering both residenti al
and commerci al energy efficiency program satisfying
mul tiple state |l egislative and regul atory

requi renments.

After that, | -- | worked for approxinmately
seven years at the South Carolina O fice of Regulatory
Staff, participating in water, wastewater, natural
gas, and electric rate proceedings and annual filings.

Utimately, | served as the deputy director
for Energy Pl anning and Enmergi ng Technol ogy, where |
prepared and functi oned as an expert witness this
before the Public Service Conm ssion of South
Car ol i na.

After that, | worked at Law ence Berkel ey
Nati onal Lab, where | conducted research and presented
findings on state energy efficiency policy,
electrification, distributed energy planning, and cost
recovery.

During that tinme | hel ped adm nister the
Nati onal Conmmunity Sol ar Partnership, which offered
techni cal assistance and education to sol ar
devel opers, state, local, and tribal organizations.

| currently work as an outside consultant
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for J. Kennedy and Associ ates and provi de support to
clients in areas of utility resource planning, energy
efficiency, cost recovery, and grid nodernization
across the United States.

Q And have you reviewed the filings,
testinony, and discovery in this docket?

A Yes, | have.

Q On Cctober 10, 2025, you caused to be filed
direct testinony together with OCS Exhibits 1.1D and
1.2D?

A Yes, | did.

Q On Novenber 13, 2025, did you cause to be
filed rebuttal testinony in this docket?

A Yes.

Q On the Decenmber 11, 2025, did you cause to
be filed surrebuttal testinmony in this docket?

A Yes, | did.

Q Do you have any changes you'd |li ke to nake
to this testinmony at this tinme?

A No. | do not.

Q If | asked you the sanme questions or -- as
are presented in your witten testinony, would your
answers be the sanme?

A Yes. They woul d.

MR. MOORE: At this point, the OCS
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woul d offer -- would ask for the adm ssion of the
direct rebuttal and surrebuttal testinony and
acconpanyi ng exhibits.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you, M. MNbore.
Seeing no objections, we'll admt
M. Sandonato's direct testinony and exhibits, his
rebuttal, and his surrebuttal testinony. Thank you.
(OCS direct testinmony and exhibits,
rebuttal testinony, and surrebuttal
testi nony of Anthony Sandonato were
admtted into evidence.)
BY MR, MOORE:
Q Have you prepared a statenent sunmari zi ng

the Ofice of Consunmer Service's position in this

docket ?
A Yes, | have.
Q Pl ease proceed.
A Good norning, Chair Fenn, Conm ssioners

Cl ark and Harvey.

My direct rebuttal and surrebuttal testinony
focused on representing OCS's role in this proceeding
to ensure the interest of all residential and
commercial custoners are protected, both participants

and non-participants aliKke.
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My testinony is guided by the principal of
Ut ah Code 54-17-904(4)(b) requirenment, which nmandates
prograns shall not result in any shift of cost or
benefits to any non-participating custonmer or any
ot her custoner of the qualified utility, beyond the
partici pating community boundari es.

To do this, my direct and rebuttal -- ny
direct rebuttal and surrebuttal testinony focused on
the follow ng key itens.

The need -- first, the need for the clear
program i npl ement ati on and val uati on plan that
outlines the specific process for calculating the
final increnental cost, inclusive of the proposed
renewabl e energy certificates, or REC, valuation so
that the entire regulatory process is transparent and
cl ear.

Second, the need for transparent program
pricing, which should be as accurate as possi bl e.
This is applicable for both noticing and billing and
shoul d continue as the program acquires additional
resour ces.

Future notices could be sinplified into bill
i nserts, rather than following the prescriptive
requirenments for the initial noticing.

Third, the initial opt-out notice provision
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should be done in a tinely manner, after the

Conmmi ssi on approve the PPA and the initial program
rates. The opt-out process should be as clear,
sinple, and automated, if cost effective.

Four, the need for cost causation basis for
a volunetric rate pricing for the program

And, lastly, the need for the programto be
designed in a way to protect both participants and
non-participants fromany shifting of cost or
benefits.

This requires fair conpensation for the
participants for the | ost value of RECs and retirenent
of RECs and the establishnment of both the
adm ni strative and resource reserve fund.

Based on nmy review, OCS recommends the
fol | ow ng.

First, no noticing or charting of
participants should take place until after there is a
specific PPA that has been executed by RMP and
approved by the PSC.

Alternatively, there should be a transparent
process for updating prices and protections in place
to ensure custoners have adequate information to make
a well-informed deci sion about the program

Second, participants should be required to
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pay for both a twelve and a half year resource reserve
and three year admnistrative reserve fund, as
proposed by RMP and rebuttal testinony.

OCS supports the use of annual true-ups to
ensure that all increnmental program costs are paid by
the participants and reflect the actual cost to
adm ni ster the program

Third, all participants should be charged on
a per kWh basis for the program Fixed nonthly rates
create intraclass subsidies and reduce price signals
t hat pronote energy efficiency usage.

Fourth two opt-out notifications should be
sent to the US custoners, with a second notification
sent electronically, if it's not the custoner's
preferred -- if it is the custonmer's preferred nethod
of contact, and participants should not be required to
pay an opt-out fee if they choose to opt out for the
first six nonths after the commencenent date.

Fifth additional notices should be sent when
future tranches of renewabl e resources are procured,
as the Agency works towards its goal of a hundred
percent net renewabl e energy.

This woul d not exenpt participating
custonmers who opt out in subsequent tranches from not

paying the termnation fee, but, rather, act as
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another way to clearly and transparently identify
costs of the program

Si x, OCS agrees with RMP's proposal to
I ncl ude separate |abel line itens for both the
adm ni strative and resource costs on the Schedul e 100
tariff custoner bills and in the proposed notice,
which is a clear inprovenent in transparency for
cust omers.

RMP shoul d be required to reeval uate the
PPA, in the event of programterm nation, to determn ne
if continuing to purchase energy fromthe resource
woul d benefit all rate payers.

RMP and the Agency should finalize requests
and receive approval of the adjustnments that we made
to Schedule 38 for the pricing the cost associ ated
with Schedul e 100 prior to the beginning of the
notification process.

RWMP should file a program i nplenentation and
val uation plan that outlines a clear procedural
schedul e that identifies one, the -- how they would
evaluate the bids, a process which mght differ,
dependi ng on whet her the Agency or RMP is the entity
conducting the RFP, when and how RWP will performthe
resource val uation cal cul ati ons used to determ ne the

portion of the costs that are increnental to system
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cost. These costs will be assigned to the program and
coll ected as part of Schedule 100.

Wil e the process approved in this docket
may not need to specify the resource val uation
cal cul ations, such that they're reduced to set
formulas, it should be described in full to provide
transparency, filing of the winning PPAs and the final
cal cul ated resource valuation with the Comi ssi on,
opportunities for interested stakeholders to review
and provide comment on the final proposed val uati on,
inits entirety, inits filing.

The conpany shoul d include specific
adj ust nents, supporting analysis data and i nformation
regardi ng the nodels used and how the results were
determ ned, and evidentiary support for the price
policy scenarios that were used in the request for
when the Comm ssion's final approval for the PPA, and
new Schedul e 100 rates are needed when the custoner
noti fication begins.

Lastly, that RMP retains ownership of the
RECs and retires them on behalf of the participants
and the program should rei nburse the systemto account
for the I ost value of RECs under certain
ci rcunst ances.

As required, when inplenenting avoi ded cost
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under Schedul e 38, the systemretains the value of the
RECs during the years the programresource avoids a
pl anned renewabl e resource in the IRP. In those
years, the program nust conpensate the system for the
| ost val ue of RECs.
Thi s concl udes ny sunmary.
MR. MOORE: M. Sandonato is now
avai l able for cross and questions fromthe Conm ssion.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you very much, M. Sandonato, for your summary of your
testi nony.
We'll turn, first, to Rocky Mountain
Power .
M5. WALKER: No questions. Thank you.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Ckay.
M. Russell?
MR. RUSSELL: | do have sone questions.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY MR RUSSELL:
Q Good -- are we still nmorning? Good norning,
M . Sandonat o.
A Still norning.
Q Still there.
A Good nmorning, M. Russell.
Q We'll get there eventually.
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I want to tal k about your, or the Ofice's,
proposal to delay the noticing to custoners unti
after program approval and until after a PPA is
appr oved.

I n your sunmmary, you articulated that, as
bei ng the proposal, and then, had an alternative, or
expressed an alternative, that -- for there to be

transparent process to update prices.

Am | -- did | follow that correctly?
A Yes. That's correct.
Q Okay. | want to tal k about both, but let's

tal k about the first one.
I n your surrebuttal testinony, you
acknowl edged sonme of the concerns that have been
rai sed by the Agency about the potential for delay to
risk the eligibility of production tax credits for a

program resource; right?

A That's correct.
Q Okay. But you al so say that we haven't
denonstrated that any such delay will result in the

| oss of those PTCs; right?

A That's correct as well.

Q Okay. | guess | want to just focus on what
we have discussed with the Ofice and what's in the

record, and see where that can take us.
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You, | think, have been here since the
begi nning of the hearing; is that right?

A Correct.

Q Okay. And were you here when | was
cross-examning M. Eller fromthe conpany?

A Yes, | was.

Q Ckay. And, during that discussion,

M. Eller articulated his understandi ng of what the
new tax rules are regarding the eligibility for PTCs.
Do you recall that?

A Yes, | do.

Q Ckay. And do you have an under st andi ng of
t hose tax | aws?

A Yes. And | amthankful for the Agency for
providing that outline as part of response to OCS
di scovery request 2.1, which was included and as an
exhibit to witness Thomas' surrebuttal testinony.

Q Right. Yeah. 1It's exhibit -- Agency
Exhibit 7.1 attached to M. Thomas' surrebutta
testinony, for those who would like to foll ow al ong.

And | just want to -- just so we can get on
t he sanme page about that, the tax laws, |I'm generally
speaki ng, say that you have to begin construction by
not later than -- | think it's July 4th of next year;

is that right?
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A Yes. | believe so.
Q Okay. And that, once construction has
begun, you need to conplete that -- well, you need to

bring the resource online within four years of the
date that you begin construction; right?

A Yes. That -- that is what was included in
t he response so --

Q Ckay. And do you have a different
under st andi ng?

A No.

Q Okay. And we also indicated in that
response that, it is our understanding, that the
devel opers that have bid into the program have already
begun construction; right?

A Yes.

Q Okay. And so the tinme period during which
t hose projects have to get to the commercial operation
has al ready begun, that four-year period has already
started; right?

A Subj ect to check, I -- 1 would agree.

Q Ckay. | -- the response about the
devel opers al ready having begun construction is
actually in the response to OCS 2. 3.

A Yep.

Q Ckay. And so, the delay, any delay to
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the -- sort of the inplenentation of the programj ust
gi ves those developers less tine to get to COD and
gqualify for production tax credits than they otherw se
would if there were no delay; right?

A Yes. It could -- it could delay it.

Q Right. And, in order -- sone of the
functions of the other, you know, sort of variables
here are that we have to build up this resource
reserve target for the PPA to becone effective; right?

A Yes. That's correct.

Q Okay. And we can't really know, sitting
here today, when that m ght occur, in part, because we
don't have a valuation for the resource, we don't know
what the participation rate in that resource will be,

and how quickly that fund m ght get built up; right?

A Yes. That's correct.
Q Ckay. So all of those are variables that,
you know, we'll need to account for at sone point,

but, because we don't know t hem now, we can't say,
here's the date by which we would need to, say,
execute a PPA so that, you know -- in order for it to
qualify for PTCs; right?

A Yes. | would agree.

Q Okay. And so, you know, maybe just to cl ose

this off, you acknow edge that there is a risk that
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the delay could -- well, do you acknow edge that the
del ay that you propose poses an additional risk for
the eligibility for PTCs for a program resource?

A There -- there could be a delay, based on
the notification.

But what | want to highlight is, what we're
requesting is, you know, this is a new one-of -a-kind
program where it's opt-out only, and it's so
| nportant that custoners conpletely understand what
the price of the program would be, and that's what
shoul d be included in noticing.

And, if there -- you know, if the Agency or
t he conpany are unable to agree, there should be,
potentially, a process in place that woul d, you know,
all ow custonmers to truly understand what the costs are
because that -- that's the concern.

How do you make an educated guess to opt out
of a program w t hout know ng what the cost will be?

Q Sure. And that may bring us to your
alternative proposal here.

Not -- |'m not suggesting that you' ve
abandoned your original one, but |I -- that brings ne,
anyway, to your alternative proposal, which is for
there to be a transparent process to update prices.

I's that sonething that, you know, could
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happen during the noticing, in your view?

A That is sonmething that coul d happen during
noticing, and, if there's, you know, significant
pricing increases or changes, then, it would be
expected that that's conmmunicated to -- to the
custoners because, again, the point of this
recommendation isn't to just have an arbitrary val ue,
it's rather to informcustoners, so they can deci de.

And we -- we see and there's custoner
support to it, but they should accurately be given the
cost of the program prior to being charged the rates
for the program

Q Understood. In his live testinony
yesterday, M. Eller and | had a conversation about
the potential schedule for PPA execution and PPA
approval. Were you here for that?

A Yes. | was.

Q Okay. And, understanding that this is
sonet hing of a forecast that may not play out this
way, but M. Eller's, surrebuttal testinony introduced
the idea that we could get to PPA execution in March
with a filing with the Comm ssion seeki ng PPA approval
at sonetinme in May. His original schedul e had
notices, | think, going out in Novenber.

Wth that, you know, there's a bunch of
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uncertainty about the schedule, but, with that, is it
possi ble that we could get to a point where we woul d
have updated rates to put into those notices that go
out to custonmers that is based on the resource

deci sions that have been approved by the Conm ssion?

A Not that have been approved by the
Comm ssi on, but woul d have been proposed by the
conmpany.

And then, there would be the possibility to
true-up and re-notice, if possible, if the pricing was
significantly different than what the conpany files.

Q Well, so, if we're sending those notices out
after the Comm ssion approves the PPA, which | think
I s what your proposal is --

A Correct.

Q Yeah. | guess what |'m pointing out is that
| think your proposal to send the notices out after
the PPA is approved lines up with the schedul e that
M. Eller had, you know, contenplated in his
surrebuttal testinony; right?

A Yes.

Q Okay. It's just that, if we wait to approve
the programuntil after we have a PPA, then, the del ay
that occurs is -- you know, pushes the noticing out an

additional, you know, potentially, seven nonths;
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right?

A Yes.

Q Okay. So, if we get to a point where we
have a PPA approved before the notices go out, you
know, could we send notices that include a rate that
I's based on that, the -- an updated rate that's based
on that programresource approval ?

A Can you restate that question? Because, to
me, it sounded like, if the PPA was approved, could
you send out notices based on that rate? And the
answer woul d be yes.

Q That is what | asked. Okay.

| did want to nmake one other note, and it's
not related to this issue.

| just -- | wanted to acknow edge that there
was sonme confusion on the -- in the testinony
regardi ng your proposal to send out new notices
related to additional resources.

| think we had just sort of m sinterpreted
your -- what you were trying to get at, and | just
ki nd of want to acknow edge you've -- we've kind of
clarified positions, you've clarified positions, and
we no | onger have that msinterpretation so | think
we're on the sane page.

A No. Thank you. And, just to clarify for
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the Comm ssion, this is not that a whole new
addi ti onal noticing process would be required each
time a resource conmes on, but, rather, you would just
need to informthe custonmers of what their perspective
new bill woul d be.

So thank you for clarifying that as well.

Q Yeah. Yeah. And, on that point, is it the
addition of a new resource that's nost inportant to
you, or is it the rate change that would be, you know,
associated with it?

A The rate change that's associated with it.

And that brings an interesting question
because, the way that the conpany has desi gned and
proposed rates with the buil dup nmai ntenance and
drawdown phase, is sonething that could be included in
t hose notice as well.

Q So woul d you propose, then, to have the sort
of projected rates be included in the notice?

A | woul d propose the i medi ate inpact, so
custonmers can wei gh their decision and deci de whet her
or not to continue to participate in the program

Q Ckay. | thought you were just proposing to

have the structure, which has a buil dup, maintenance,

and drawdown phase be included. | -- is that what you
were saying? |I'm-- maybe |I'mjust not follow ng.
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A No. | was saying that's sonething that
could be included. But the npost inportant thing is
that custoners are noticed what their rate inpact wll
be so that they can nake an educat ed deci si on whet her
or not to continue to participate.

MR. RUSSELL: Ckay. Thank you very
much. That's all | have.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Thank
you very much, M. Russell.

Ms. Hayes?

M5. HAYES: | have no questions. Thank
you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Ckay.
Ms. Monahan?

M5. MONAHAN: No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Okay. Let's
turn to M. Gecu.

MR. GRECU. No questions. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Ckay.
M. ©Moore, do you have any redirect?

MR. MOORE: | have none. Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:  Ckay.
Comm ssi oner Clark?

COVWM SSI ONER CLARK: Thanks.
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON

BY COWMM SSI ONER CLARK:

Q | have a coupl e questions for you. Welcone.

| believe the Ofice, and I think | m ght

have attributed this to the Division yesterday, but
were you not recommendi ng that the initial opt-out
period be |l onger than was initially proposed by the
conpany? And, if so, how does that affect your other
recomendati ons?

A That doesn't affect any of our other
recommendati ons, but we did support the six nonth
opt-out period as proposed by the Agency, and |
beli eve agreed to buy RMP.

Q Okay. And, regarding the effects of
subsequent resources being added, and this really
relates to the conversation you were just having with
M. Russell, is -- are you stating that, sonehow, the
cost inplications or the right inplications of a yet
to be executed PPA would sonmehow be noticed to the
custoners, or would the notice cone when the PPA has
been approved by the Conmm ssion and the rate inpacts
are known and certain?

A Yes, Commi ssioner. It would definitely be
best if their rate inpacts were known and certain, and

t he PPA had been approved by the Comm ssion, and then,
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that would informall of the custoners of what the
proj ected program pricing would be, again, and just to
be as transparent as possible, so they can make their
deci si on whether or not to continue participating in
t he program

Q Okay. And now, noving to a different topic,
you identified some uncertainties in the valuation
met hodol ogy that the conpany has proposed or sone
| nprecision, | guess, or -- and would you -- are you
proposi ng that the precise valuation nethodol ogy,
then, be nade clear in detail when the PPA is proposed
for approval and that the Conmm ssion would take that
opportunity to refine its understandi ng of the
val uation nethodol ogy along with consideration of the
PPA?

A Yeah. And -- and, just to be clear, we're
not proposing that there's a specific resource
val uation nethodol ogy for each subsequent PPA, but,
rather, that there's a clear standard process, which
woul d i nvol ve, you know, intervenor feedback and all ow
for you to review

And there could certainly be adjustnents,

based on when the PPA is procured, based on changes
to, as you heard, discussion and changes to the IRP

year over year, what's going on.
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And so it's not that the valuation is set,
but that, having a clear understandi ng of what that
process would look like, is especially hel pful for all
parties who want to nake sure that they're -- they're
able to apply comments and ensure that the resource
val ued as accurately as possible.

Because, ultimtely, you know, we want to
make sure that, as everyone has been saying, you know,
no cost or benefits shift fromparticipants to
non-partici pants.

So it's not the valuation nethodol ogy, but,
rather, the process at which they would conme before
t he Comm ssion for approval of that.

Q And so are your concerns in that area
adequately addressed if we consider the precise
nmet hodol ogy that has been used to value a resource
when we consi der approving the PPA associated with
t hat resource?

A Yes.

COW SSI ONER CLARK: Ckay. Those are
all my questions. Thank you.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Thank you,
Conmi ssi oner Cl arKk.

Conmi ssi oner Harvey?
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CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY COWMM SSI ONER HARVEY:

Q Good nor ni ng.

A Good nor ni ng.

Q I'd like to kind of step through a nunber of
things, just to get a little bit nmore clarity for ny
sake on the alternative.

And you did a | ot of the groundwork with the
answeri ng questions of M. Russell here, but assum ng
the PSC decides to go with the alternative instead of
your main recomendation, the type of clarity -- well,
let me -- sorry, let nme give a bit nore background.

Assune the PSC wants to go with the
alternative instead of your main recomendation, in
order to advance the cal endar, to nove things forward
as quickly as possible, to -- because of those PTC
concer ns.

What type of additional clarity or what type
of things should we be | ooking for, in your opinion?

A To nme, you know, and -- and this is
t hroughout ny testinony, is just ensuring that the
custoners accurately understand what the cost of the
prograns woul d be.

So if RWP and the Agency are able to devel op

an estimate of cost to use in noticing, you know, that
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could be reasonable. But, if it conmes back that it's
significantly higher, |ower, or outside of those
bounds, you would -- you, as a -- or nyself, as a
prospective, you know, participating customer, would
want to understand that.

And then, you could have a potenti al
addi tional noticing or have | anguage in that, that
woul d caveat it is what it would be, just to ensure
because, you know, | -- | hate to keep saying it
because | know you guys are probably sick of it, is,
you know, that the transparent pricing of the program
Is just -- it's paranount. It's fundanental to
under st andi ng what type of utility programyou're
participating in.

Q Okay. And you confirned earlier that you
were here yesterday.

Did you hear various w tnesses tal k about
that you could target a price on the bills by
adjusting a lot of other factors, in terns of how
qui ckly things were collected and various things |ike
that? Were you here for those di scussions?

A | did. And, to ny recollection, it was
targeting a pricing on the bills would basically size
t he amount of resource you'd be able to procure.

Q Okay. So we had testinony that the Agency
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was very interested in keeping the total bill inpact
for a residential custonmer in the three to four dollar
range. Do you recall that?

A Yes, | do.

Q So would it be your understanding that, if
that was an objective that the Agency was going to
follow, that that would represent clarity as to what,
at least for the foreseeable future, the programcosts
woul d be to the custoners?

A | -- I think that could be a step, as | ong
as there was caveats, understanding how they arrived
at that, and, again, you know, how that $4 would be
reflected on the custoner's bill

Q | guess what |'masking, is if the
notification process said sonething along the |ines of
we're targeting a range of X to Y, here's what woul d

go into that, is that sufficient to give clarity?

A I --
Q And transparency?
A Yeah. | -- | think it provides clarity,

but, again, you know, if you could be nore accurate,
you know, outlining the actual inpacts, it would --
woul d be better. But that would give custoners
clarity.

And then, you know, the concern would be
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that holding themto that three to four dollar inpact
and not just allowng themto end up with -- you know,
actually it's a six-dollar-a-nonth resource or

what ever.

It's not that | expect that to happen, but,
you know, that is a concern, which is why you want to
make sure that, if that anmount is noticed, it's -- the
program cost is held to a specific range.

Q Ckay. And you were here for the discussions
where they tal ked about that the rates that were
initially collected under this programwould go to
devel opi ng these various reserve accounts, and,
because the PPA is not going to be -- or not the
PPA -- but, because the project itself wll not be
delivering energy for quite sone tinme, that, at | east
for several years, the rates are going to those
accounts, those reserve accounts?

A Yes.

Q Okay. All right. Okay. That's enough for
that | think.

Ckay. We'd like to discuss the Ofice's
preference for a volunetric charge versus the Agency's
preference for a fixed charge.

A Yep.

Q Yes. Taking this subject to check, but,
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when | took the nunbers that were thrown out in
hearing yesterday, | think it was three eighty-four
and an average use of six hundred and seventy-five
kil owatt hours, | canme up with sonething just over
slightly half a cent per kilowatt hour.

Does that seemto be simlar to what your
cal cul ati ons woul d --

A That -- that seens reasonabl e, Conm ssi oner.

Q Ckay. All right. Does a half a cent have,
froman economc price elasticity, or marginal val ue,
or whatever analysis you want to do, does that have
the -- nmuch of an inpact on behavior?

A | -- I couldn't say how nmuch of an inpact it
woul d, but it is a price signal, whether it's going up
or down.

And, you know, sonetines it's easy to get
| ost in the magni tude of these increases, you know,
when they seem so m nuscule but it -- that's not the
case for all custoners, and it -- it could nmake a
di fference.

Q Okay. In terns of the noticing, if the
notice said we expect to charge your bill $3.84 per
nonth versus we expect to add a half a cent to your
energy usage charge, just for the average residenti al

custoner, which would grab their attention the nost,
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do you think?

A | think that either one would -- would grab
attention, but, obviously, they would | ook at the
| ar ger val ue nore.

But, you know, at the sane tine, if you say
that there's a half a cent increase per kW, then, you
woul d expect that you would also give an average cost
i ncrease as well, which would be simlar to that three
to four dollar threshol d.

So they -- they both would grab their
attention.

Q Ckay. Thanks for that clarification. Let's
see.

Okay. W th respect to the PPA being
reevaluated, if the programwere termnated, |I'm
trying, in nmy mnd, to think of the hypothetical
situation where it doesn't make sense to have the
program but it does make sense to have the resource.

And | guess, in ny mnd, | see two factors
that m ght inpact that, and | want to see if you have
anything else to add.

One would be if, for sonme reason, custoners
sinply decided not to participate en masse, and the
i ndi vi dual charges just got astronom cal, the

custoner -- and then, that would cause nore custoners
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to stop.

The second is just sinply that the
adm ni strative costs, the adm nistrative burden, gets
too high, and that drives prices up.

Can you think of any other things that would
tend to make a situation where the programdidn't nmake
sense, but the resource itself for the whole system
di d?

A |"msure there's other ones, but | would --
| woul d agree, those are two -- the two |ike biggest
i npacts that would be a reason why the program woul d
not work but the resource coul d.

Q Ckay. So if, froma public policy
perspective, the PSC says, well, we want to inplenent
the statute, make this available to people, it would
make sense to try to mnimze the total admnistrative
cost of the progranf

A Yes. Yes. | agree.

Q Okay. All right. Let nme tal k about
renewabl e -- excuse nme, renewabl e energy certificates.

The Office's position is that those ought to
be retired as part of the progranm is that correct?

A Yes.

Q Okay. What woul d you descri be a renewabl e

energy certificate as being? What is it?
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A | woul d describe it as the environnental
attributes attributed with power generated by a
renewabl e resource.

Q Ckay. So, if the entity that's responsible
for were those RECs existing, which, in nmy opinion, it
woul d be the Agency, wants to treat themin any
particul ar way, why does the Ofice care about that?

A Il -- 1 think that's a fair question because,
you know, throughout this proceeding, we've seen a
shift fromcomunity renewabl e energy program away
fromfocusing on that, to, rather, focusing on clean
energy resources being devel oped.

And, you know, to ne, |ooking at a renewabl e
energy program you would assune that the attributes
attributed to a resource devel oped for that would be
retired as a result of the program

Q Well, you say you woul d assune.

A Fair point there.

Q I mght not assune; is that a fair point as
wel | ?

A Yes.

Q Ckay. So a not hypothetical but real
situation, | have solar panels on ny hone. 1|'ve had
t hem several years.

|'ve never gone to the trouble of
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registering with Regis [ph] to get RECs. | think
woul d qualify for about 150 of them | think, by now,
i f | had.

But the benefit that | get, whether that's a
bill benefit or psychol ogi cal benefit from having
t hose panels, is the same, | would argue, whether RECs
exists for themor not. And what I'mgoing to ask is
whet her or not you agree with that statenent.

But the qualificationis, in ny mnd, the
energy has been produced. The 150, whatever anounts
| -- the anopunt |'ve produced over the -- or ny panels
have produced over tinme, has offset a certain anount
of a "dirty energy" that would have been produced
ot herw se.

So does it make any difference whet her RECs
were even created, or, if they had been created, if |
had retired then?

A Il -- I think it nakes a difference that they
have been created.

And, you know, to -- to your point, | -- |
think this is a perfect opportunity, when we go back
to how resource val uation changes, |ike sonme of the
earlier questions, is this is sonething that will be
deci ded when that resource is brought before you.

And so, you know, it doesn't have to be al
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or nothing or -- or sonething immediately. It -- it's
sonething that will be decided as part of that future
resource val uati on because, as of now, you know, we
don't even have what the potential REC val ue pricing
woul d be to estimate it to.

So |l -- 1 get -- 1 understand your point,
but | just wanted to make that clear, fromny
perspective. Sorry.

Q And why don't we have a REC price?

A There was not one proposed or produced.

Q No. But why not?

A | -- I do not think I"'mthe wtness to ask
that, sir. I''m sorry.

Q Wel |, but you are advocating positions that
woul d dramatically increase the cost of the program
based on the idea that there should be a REC price.

A | -- I think it could increase cost,
dependi ng on what a proposed REC price -- REC price
woul d be.

Q Well, if it was zero, it wouldn't increase
cost; right?

A Yeah. Exactly.

Q So, if every party would agree to a zero
price, we could not worry about it?

A Yes.
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COW SSI ONER HARVEY: Okay. | think
that's all nmy questions. Thanks.
THE W TNESS: Thank you, Conm ssi oner.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: COkay. Thank
you, Comm ssioner Harvey.
CROSS- EXAM NATI ON
BY PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN:

Q M. Sandonato, | think nost of ny questions
have been asked, except | do want to draw your
attention to page 3 of your surrebuttal, |ine 60
through 71. G ve you a chance to turn there.

A Luckily, | had it open to that page.

Q Well, I wish | could say you were
anticipating nmy question, but probably not.

This is Rocky Mountain Power's w tness,
M. Eller, contending that we should reject the
recommendati on for RMP to inplenent an automated
process for participants to opt out by tel ephone.

| -- ny understanding is that you have --
you basically agreed that it doesn't need to be an
aut omat ed process to opt out by tel ephone, after
you' ve heard all the testinony, read all the other
testinmony; is that correct?

A Yeah. That's -- that's correct because we

echo the Agency and RMP's concern for keeping
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adm ni strative costs as | ow as possible. So yes.
Q Great. And you were -- say that, it's --
you're concerned about increased program cost.
But you still believe in the principle that
it should be a clear and sinple process for a custoner
to opt out, so they don't have to endure, you know,

problens with respect to uncertainty, or long waits,

and that kind of stuff. That -- the principles, you
still support; is that correct?
A Yes. That's correct.

Q Okay. Okay. So ny question is, what do you
now think is an appropriate process by which a
custoner opts out?

They' ve received the notices that they can
opt out. How do you propose that, you know, for those
custonmers who, if they do nothing, they are consi dered
i n the program how do you propose they -- a
process -- well, what process do you propose to be
utilized for a custoner to opt out?

A For a custoner to opt out or for -- sorry,
just to make sure | --

Q No. For the custoner to opt out. [|I'm--
we're -- the custoner has to give notice that they're
opti ng out.

A Yes. And -- and so, is the question, if the
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custonmer opts out, what should their notification be
i ke, or what should --

Q Yeah. What should they have to do?

A They -- they should be able to, you know,
just call up the dedicated nunber, or submt a form
online, and -- and be able to easily opt out.

And then, they should also be notified that
t hat has actual |y happened.

Q Okay. So that -- and that was what | was
getting for -- to you.

You don't talk in this section of your
testinony, but you're contenplating, after they give
notice, whether it's filling out a form or calling
in, it's not -- you're -- you've acknow edged it
doesn't have to be an automated |line. They may have
to endure sone waiting in |ine.

A Unfortunately, yes.

Q Yeah. But that, then, there has to be a
confirmation that they receive what?

So tell ne about your viewpoint of how that
process works, the -- what is the process for
confirmati on of opt-out?

A Yes. And | believe the conpany, yesterday,
they -- they spoke, you know, in great detail about

notification going out via nmail.
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And one of the things that we've agreed on,
as part of the programnotification, is that, you
know, first notice by mail, second notice, if the
custoner elects to have their communication via enmail,
it could go through that.

And | think a simlar stance for opt-out
woul d be reasonable, with whatever their selected
delivery service is.

Q Ckay. So, if their choice is to receive
their bills by electronic neans, do you think that an
opt-out confirmation is sufficient by electronic
means, or do they also still need to be able to
receive one -- kind of a dual opt-out confirmation?

Do they need a nmailed confirmation and an

el ectronic notification that their opt-out informtion

has been received, or what -- just what do you propose
t here?
A Yeah. | nmean, | -- | think | dual

confirmation, obviously, would get them nore or ensure
they're informed better.

But having, you know, whatever, an email
confirmati on would be a way to potentially continue to
reduce program costs, so | see pros and cons to either
one, and | think that, you know, both -- both have

merit.
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But it -- it would be, you know, do we want
to ensure notification or ensure notification and
reduce costs? And | think that's a question for you.

Q Ckay. So, after the custoner utilizes the
mechani sm available to themto opt out, you think it
woul d be adequate that, whatever nethod they've chosen
to receive their bills, either by mail or by
el ectronic delivery, could also be the nethod by which
t hey can receive confirmati on of opting out, w thout

It being duplicated?

A | -- I think that woul d be adequat e.
PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: COkay. All
right. That's all | had. All right. Thank you.

Appreciate it very nuch.

M . Sandonato, thank you for -- you can
be excused.

THE W TNESS: Thank you.

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Ckay. Are
there any other matters that need to conme before the
Comm ssi on today before we adjourn?

Ckay. | just want to note, |'d said
earlier that we would request an expedited transcript,
but, nmy understanding is, is that the transcripts wl]l
be avail abl e by January 5th w thout expedition, so we

don't need to expedite the transcripts.
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| would be very surprised if anybody is
going to spend any tinme |ooking at these transcripts
bet ween now and the end of the holiday season.

So I'"mjust nodifying that --

COW SSI ONER CLARK: Except for ne.
"1l be studying them

PRESI DI NG OFFI CER FENN: Yeah. Yeah.
As you're sitting by the pool in St. George. | know.

Okay. So we're going to expect that
the transcripts will be delivered by January 5, 2026.

| just want to say thank you, again. |
t hought this hearing has -- |I'm always i npressed,
havi ng spent many years of my life in a courtroom
environment, either in federal or state court, where
the process is -- tends to be nore litigious and the
adversarial nature of that process sonetines is
reduced to al nost ad hom num att acks.

| just want to say how nuch |

appreci ate the professionalismof counsel. It's been
uni form t hroughout the -- well, we have -- you know,
we've been -- |I'm personally, very inpressed with how

you conduct yourselves with professionalismand
courtesy, and | just thought | ought to say that.
It's really -- given the many years |

practiced | aw and al so, before that, clerking for a
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federal judge, it's a breath of fresh air to see, |

woul d t hi nk,

the collegiality and professionalism so

| wanted to say that as we adjourn.

And | want to wish you all a

hol i day season, and we are now adj our ned.

very happy

(Wher eupon, at 11:58 a.m, the

proceedi ng was concl uded.)

CERTI FI CATE

DELANI E BUSTAMANTE, the officer

bef ore
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whom t he foregoi ng proceedi ngs were taken, do hereby
certify that any witness(es) in the foregoing

proceedi ngs, prior to testifying, were duly sworn;

that the proceedi ngs were recorded by ne and
thereafter reduced to typewiting by a qualified
transcriptionist; that said digital audio recording of
said proceedings are a true and accurate record to the
best of ny know edge, skills, and ability; that | am
neither counsel for, related to, nor enployed by any
of the parties to the action in which this was taken;
and, further, that I amnot a relative or enployee of
any counsel or attorney enployed by the parties
hereto, nor financially or otherwise interested in the

outcone of this action.

Cat:DJ&%W”"s%%wGTﬁlMﬂMWGZi'
DELANI E BUSTAMANTE

Notary Public in and for the
State of Utah

CERTI FI CATE OF TRANSCRI BER
|, DAWN STCLAI R, do hereby certify that this
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transcript was prepared fromthe digital audio
recordi ng of the foregoing proceedi ng, that said
transcript is a true and accurate record of the
proceedi ngs to the best of nmy know edge, skills, and
ability; that I amneither counsel for, related to,
nor enployed by any of the parties to the action in
which this was taken; and, further, that | amnot a
relative or enployee of any counsel or attorney

enpl oyed by the parties hereto, nor financially or

otherwise interested in the outcone of this action.

Do,

DAWN STCLAI R
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Utah Rules of Civil Procedure
Part V. Depositions and Discovery

Rule 30

(E) Submission to Witness; Changes; Signing.

Within 28 days after being notified by the officer
that the transcript or recording is available, a
witness may sign a statement of changes to the form
or substance of the transcript or recording and the
reasons for the changes. The officer shall append

any changes timely made by the witness.

DISCLAIMER: THE FOREGOING CIVIL PROCEDURE RULES
ARE PROVIDED FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY.
THE ABOVE RULES ARE CURRENT AS OF APRIL 1,

2019. PLEASE REFER TO THE APPLICABLE STATE RULES

OF CIVIL PROCEDURE FOR UP-TO-DATE INFORMATION.




VERITEXT LEGAL SOLUTIONS

COMPANY CERTIFICATE AND DISCLOSURE STATEMENT
Veritext Legal Solutions represents that the
foregoing transcript is a true, correct and complete
transcript of the colloquies, questions and answers
as submitted by the court reporter. Veritext Legal
Solutions further represents that the attached
exhibits, if any, are true, correct and complete
documents as submitted by the court reporter and/or
attorneys in relation to this deposition and that
the documents were processed in accordance with

our litigation support and production standards.

Veritext Legal Solutions is committed to maintaining
the confidentiality of client and witness information,
in accordance with the regulations promulgated under
the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability
Act (HIPAA), as amended with respect to protected
health information and the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, as
amended, with respect to Personally Identifiable
Information (PII). Physical transcripts and exhibits
are managed under strict facility and personnel access

controls. Electronic files of documents are stored




in encrypted form and are transmitted in an encrypted
fashion to authenticated parties who are permitted to
access the material. Our data is hosted in a Tier 4

SSAE 16 certified facility.

Veritext Legal Solutions complies with all federal and
State regulations with respect to the provision of
court reporting services, and maintains its neutrality
and independence regardless of relationship or the
financial outcome of any litigation. Veritext requires
adherence to the foregoing professional and ethical
standards from all of its subcontractors in their

independent contractor agreements.

Inquiries about Veritext Legal Solutions'
confidentiality and security policies and practices
should be directed to Veritext's Client Services
Assoclates indicated on the cover of this document or

at www.veritext.com.
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